University of Texas Rio Grande Valley ScholarWorks @ UTRGV

Theses and Dissertations

12-2023

Examining Factors Among People With Opioid Use Disorder and Comorbid Mental Health Disorders

Tori Denae Livingston The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/etd

Part of the Counseling Psychology Commons

Recommended Citation

Livingston, Tori Denae, "Examining Factors Among People With Opioid Use Disorder and Comorbid Mental Health Disorders" (2023). *Theses and Dissertations*. 1476. https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/etd/1476

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. For more information, please contact justin.white@utrgv.edu, william.flores01@utrgv.edu.

EXAMINING FACTORS AMONG PEOPLE WITH OPIOID USE DISORDER AND COMORBID MENTAL HEALTH DISORDERS

A Dissertation Proposal

by

TORI DENAE LIVINGSTON

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major Subject: Rehabilitation Counseling

The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley

December 2023

EXAMINING FACTORS AMONG PEOPLE WITH OPIOID USE DISORDER AND COMORBID MENTAL HEALTH DISORDERS

A Dissertation Proposal by

TORI DENAE LIVINGSTON

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Dr. Irmo Marini Chair of Committee

Dr. Kim Nguyen-Finn Committee Member

Dr. Jesus Tanguma Committee Member

December 2023

Copyright 2023 Tori Denae Livingston All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Livingston, Tori D., <u>Examining Factors Among People With Opioid Use Disorder And</u> <u>Comorbid Mental Health Disorders</u>, Doctor of Philosophy (PhD), December 2023, 148 pp., 10 tables, references, 48 titles.

Opioid use disorder (OUD) affects over two million Americans, and over 42,000 Americans perished of opioid overdoses in 2016 (Volkow et al., 2019). During the initial years of the opioid crisis, overdose deaths were primarily attributed to prescription analgesics, heroin, and synthetic opioids. However, it was illicit prescription opioid painkiller use that ranked highest in terms of fatalities (Volkow et al., 2019). The increasing prevalence of opioid use among individuals with mental health disorders is in stark contrast to the ongoing opioid crisis (Prince, 2019). Additionally, there is evidence that individuals undergoing substance use treatment and concurrently suffering from a mental health disorder exhibit inferior treatment outcomes and a lower rate of treatment completion compared to their counterparts without such conditions. Those who have a higher incidence of prior overdose hospitalizations, psychiatric hospitalizations, housing insecurity, incarceration, and psychological issues (low self-esteem, diminished resilience threshold, and life satisfaction) and who also have comorbid mental health disorders and opioid use disorder may have a significantly reduced prognosis for recovery in comparison to those who do not have a severe mental health condition. Inmate status, housing insecurity, and multiple mental health disorder diagnoses are among the demographic factors that predict an increased risk of psychological issues including self-esteem, resilience, and life satisfaction. Personal characteristics such as prior psychiatric hospitalizations and overdose

hospitalizations are also examined. The findings of this research, which employed multiple linear regression, indicated a significant relationship between life satisfaction and both housing insecurity and the diagnosis of multiple mental health disorders. Additionally, incarceration status and multiple diagnoses of mental health disorders were significant predictors of resilience. Nevertheless, self-esteem exhibited no correlation with diagnoses of mental health disorders, housing insecurity, or incarceration status.

DEDICATION

This journey is dedicated to my mommy, Clarice Renee Warner, who has been my cheerleader, my audience for practicing presentations, and my shoulder to cry on during difficult times. Thank you for unconditionally loving me and always giving me that push to keep going. To my family and friends for your everlasting support. To my lovely companion, Ryder, for her unconditional love and emotional support, as well as her humorous moments throughout this experience. Last but not least, I want to dedicate this to every black woman who has ever been told "You can't."

Thank you to my black ancestors for blazing the trail that led to my success. Thank you all for your love, support, patience, and sacrifice.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I am forever grateful to Dr. Irmo Marini, chair of my dissertation committee, for his mentoring, and advice and for never allowing a dull moment to take place. To Dr. Irmo Marini, for giving me the utmost simple advice, telling me outrageous jokes, and guiding me every step of the way. From providing opportunities for growth in research, teaching, and leadership roles, he ambitiously cheered me on from the beginning of my doctoral studies to the very end. I want to also extend my gratitude and appreciation to my esteemed dissertation committee members: Dr. Kim Nguyen-Finn and Dr. Jesus Tanguma. Dr. Tanguma who willingly provided his time, continuous support, and statistical expertise during this process, and Dr. Finn who demanded nothing less than my best until the very end and who has been a wonderful supervisor.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iii
DEDICATION	V
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
CHAPTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
Statement of Problem	9
Statement of Purpose	11
Significance of the Study	13
Terminology	15
CHAPTER II. LITERATURE REVIEW	16
Gender/Age	16
Psychological and Psychosocial Factors	20
Quality of Life	20
Life Satisfaction	23
Resilience	25
Self-Esteem	
Норе	
Depression	
Past Psychiatric Hospitalizations/Past Overdose Hospitalizations	
Health Insurance	42
Incarceration	43
Housing Insecurity	45

CHAPTER III. METHODOLOGY	
Participants	51
Procedure	
Instrumentation	
Variable Selection and Data Analysis	
Summary	
CHAPTER IV. DATA ANALYSIS AND RESULTS	
Sample Composition and Demographics	60
Assumptions	65
Inferential Statistics	
Self-Esteem	67
Resilience	
Life Satisfaction	
Summary	71
CHAPTER V. CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS	
Rationale	
Presentation of Findings	75
Future Research Considerations	
Implications	
Rehabilitation Counselors	
Educators/Students	
Limitations	
Final Statement	
REFERENCES	
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Terminology	15
Table 2: Frequencies of Participant's Demographics (Gender and Race)	61
Table 3: Descriptive Statistics of Participant's Age	62
Table 4: Frequencies of Multiple Mental Health Disorder Diagnoses	63
Table 5: Frequencies of Housing Insecurity	63
Table 6: Frequencies of Reasons for Turning into Opioids	63
Table 7: Frequencies of Participant's Incarceration Status	64
Table 8: The Effect of Predictor Variables on Self-Esteem	68
Table 9: The Effect of Predictor Variables on Resilience	69
Table 10: The Effect of Predictor Variables on Life Satisfaction	71

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

More than two million Americans have an opioid use disorder (OUD); in 2016, more than 42,000 Americans died of opioid overdoses (Volkow et al., 2019). Although prescription painkillers, heroin, and synthetic opioids accounted for the majority of overdose-related deaths in the early years of the opioid crisis, illicit use of prescription opioid painkillers was the leading cause of death (Volkow et al., 2019). Opioids are a class of pharmaceuticals that includes opiates, the natural compounds generated from the opium poppy, and synthetic drugs with equivalent properties to natural opiates, which are extensively prescribed and commonly abused. An opioid is any substance that contains oxycodone or hydrocodone, as well as morphine, methadone, codeine, and fentanyl (Eitan et al., 2017). When dealing with moderate to severe pain, opioids are the standard treatment; however, they can be misused for their analgesic effects and rewarding properties. In the context of prescription opioids, misuse refers to non-prescribed administration (Volkow et al., 2019). Specifically, prescription opioid misuse is defined as using medications in a manner or dosage other than prescribed; taking someone else's prescription, even if for a legitimate medical complaint such as pain; or taking a medication to feel euphoric (Cruden & Karmali, 2021). When misused for their rewarding effects, prescription opioids are usually snorted or injected, resulting in quicker uptake in the brain and amplifying their rewarding effects. When misused via oral administration, their rewarding effects are enhanced (Volkow et al., 2019). Although the dosage of opioids varies, increasing dosage increases

euphoria and has the potential to cause serious addiction (Volkow et al., 2019). In a subset of opioid users, addiction develops more gradually than physical dependence. According to the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*, Fifth Edition, (DSM-5-TR) (2022), a substance use disorder (SUD) involves patterns of symptoms caused by using a substance that an individual continues taking despite its negative effects. Moreover, opioid addiction involves biological processes linked with learning, which contribute to the consolidation of automatic actions in reaction to the drug and stimuli associated with the drug, known as conditioning. Individuals can develop a tolerance to opioids due to their rewarding effects of pain alleviation, withdrawal symptoms, or dysphoria. Repeated exposure reinforces conditioning, increasing the urge and motivation to use the substance (Volkow et al., 2019). Opioid addiction is a severe, chronic, and relapsing mental health disease that may originate from legitimate medical conditions, recreational use, and experimental use (Eitan et al., 2017).

The misuse of prescription opioids has been deemed a public health emergency in the United States. According to analyses of the National Vital Statistics (2015) multiple cause-of-death mortality statistics, deaths involving prescription opioids increased by more than fourfold between 1999 and 2015, despite a steady decline in opioid prescription rates over the past several years (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2015; Eitan et al., 2017). In 2014, 1.9 million Americans aged 12 and older suffered from a substance use disorder involving prescription pain medications, and 18,893 overdose deaths were associated with prescription pain medication use (Eitan et al., 2017). In addition, the number of overall misused opioids increased in recent years. In 2019, an estimated 10.1 million people aged 12 or older misused opioids in the past year. Specifically, 9.7 million people misused prescription pain relievers, and 745,000 people used heroin (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2022). Prescription opioids (including

natural and semi-synthetic opioids and methadone), other synthetic opioids other than methadone (primarily fentanyl), and heroin were responsible for 68,630 deaths through 2020 (National Institute on Drug Abuse, 2022).

As the opioid crisis continues to escalate, it is evident that people with mental health disorders are using opioids more frequently (Prince, 2019). Opioids are prescribed to approximately 19% of those with mental health disorders, and the prevalence of opioid use among those with mental health disorders is four times that of the general population (Prince, 2019). According to the DSM-5-TR, 2022), a mental disorder is a syndrome characterized by a clinically significant disturbance in the cognition, emotion regulation, or behavior of an individual, which reflects a dysfunction in the psychological, biological, or developmental processes underlying mental functioning. Typically, it is accompanied by distress or impairment in crucial areas of functioning (Thyer, 2015). There are many different types of mental disorders (i.e., schizophrenia, depression, bipolar disorder, and post-traumatic stress disorder). Mental disorders may also be referred to as mental health conditions. This latter term encompasses mental disorders, psychosocial disabilities, and other mental states associated with significant distress, impairment in functioning, or self-harm risk (World Health Organization, 2022).

When diagnosing a mental health disorder, it is essential to recognize that some individuals may self-medicate their symptoms with substances (Providers Clinical Support System, 2021). Drug abuse frequently worsens mental health symptoms over time in part, due to the addictive nature of many substances. Common risk factors for the development of a mental condition and/or substance use disorder include inherited genetic traits and environmental influences, such as trauma and/or stress (Providers Clinical Support System, 2021). An environmental factor,

such as the COVID-19 pandemic, could-and did-lead to an increase in drug use or the development of more mental disorders, such as depression or anxiety among the general population. According to Galea and Ettman (2021), several population-based studies indicate a two- to threefold increase in mood anxiety disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic. The population of people with OUDs who typically have preexisting mental health issues was more susceptible to mental distress during the COVID-19 pandemic (Sun et al., 2020).

People with mental health disorders often have an opioid use disorder. Depression, bipolar disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), personality disorders, schizophrenia, and psychosis have been linked to reward circuitry dysfunction. OUD is a well-known cause and predictor of depression in adults and teens, with depressed people showing a reduced (hyporeactive) striatal response to monetary rewards linked to dopamine (Levis et al., 2021; Rappaport et al., 2020). Comorbid mental health disorders are characterized by the presence of two or more disorders or illnesses in the same individual. They can occur simultaneously or one after another. Additionally, comorbidity denotes interactions between diseases that can worsen the course of both (National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2018).

When multiple mental health disorders coexist, one may be even more severe than the others. According to Prince (2019), while people with mental disorders may turn to opioids to alleviate psychological distress, opioids may also be used to address elevated levels of pain and physical illness associated with severe mental illness (SMI). A person diagnosed with non-organic psychosis may also suffer from a serious mental disorder (Ruggeri et al., 2000). People with mental illness are more prone than those without mental illness to develop a substance use disorder (Novak et al., 2019). According to the National Survey on Drug Use and Health (2018),

conducted by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, roughly 9.2 million American individuals have a co-occurring disorder (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, 2018). Less attention has been given to co-occurring mental health conditions in this population, even though substance use disorders frequently co-occur with mental illness. This is especially true for people with OUD, of whom between 50% and 75% are estimated to have a co-occurring mental disorder (Novak et al., 2019). Individuals undergoing treatment for opioid abuse or dependence face numerous obstacles to treatment adherence, including a lack of specialized substance use providers, geographic misdistribution of substance use treatment facilities (such as the physical isolation of rural communities), economic-related obstacles (i.e., high rates of unemployment, lack of quality jobs, high rates of poverty) and health insurance gaps (Cavazos-Rehg et al., 2021).

Those with substance use disorder and at least one comorbid mental health disorder may be more likely to receive treatment than those without comorbidities (Baginski et al., 2022). Nevertheless, only 31% of those with a mental health disorder and SUD receive treatment for substance abuse. The severity of mental health disorders may serve as a predictor of treatment according to additional research (Harris & Edlund, 2005). A review of factors predicting substance abuse treatment outcomes concluded that mental health severity, in addition to demographic factors, is one of the strongest predictors of substance abuse treatment outcomes (McKay & Weiss, 2001). However, only a small percentage of those who do receive treatment also receive care for their mental health (Harris & Edlund, 2005). This is crucial because mental health treatment alone may be ineffective for co-occurring disorders (Baginski et al., 2022). People with co-occurring substance use disorder and mental health disorders may have distinct treatment patterns and complex treatment requirements. Some researchers, Urbanoski et al. (2007), have discovered that

individuals with substance use disorders and co-occurring mental health disorders are more likely to receive substance use treatment, but also the most likely to express dissatisfaction with the quality of their care. Additionally, Urbanoski et al. (2007) demonstrated that people with substance use disorder, but no mental health disorder, are more likely to receive mental health care. There is also evidence that people in substance use treatment who also have a mental health disorder are less likely to complete treatment and have poorer treatment outcomes than those who do not have a mental health disorder. It is recommended that individuals with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders should receive treatment for both disorders concurrently (Novak et al., 2019). One study by Cacciola et al. (2001) found that people in methadone maintenance treatment for opioids who had more severe mental illnesses had worse psychosocial outcomes at treatment entry and exit.

As the opioid-related overdose death rate continues to make national headlines, increased emphasis has been placed on the challenges faced by an estimated 2.1 million individuals with opioid use disorder in gaining access to evidence-based care (Williams et al., 2020). Buprenorphine, which was approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration in 2002 for the treatment of opioid dependence, is the most frequently prescribed medication for opioid use disorder in the United States, with more than 700,000 individuals receiving it annually. However, most buprenorphine-treated patients are unsuccessfully retained in care (Williams et al., 2020). Moreover, the needs of individuals with co-occurring substance abuse and mental health disorders may not be adequately met by the current healthcare system, in which substance abuse and mental health treatment are frequently not integrated or coordinated (Novak et al., 2019). Outside of clinical indications, opioid use disorder is associated with wider societal costs, such as harm to family cohesion, reduced employment and economic contribution, and increased

risk and costs of crime (both from the illegal drug market and individuals using crime to fund their drug use) (Strang et al., 2020).

Compared to the general population, individuals with SUDs and severe mental illnesses face numerous obstacles in finding, obtaining, and maintaining employment, including lower educational attainment, poor interpersonal skills, low motivation to work, lack of vocational and job skills, lack of transportation, lack of childcare, lack of computing/technical skills, probation/treatment program requirements, and continued substance use/relapse (Dunigan et al., 2014; Magura, 2003; Schottenfeld et al., 1992; Sigurdsson et al., 2012; Zanis et al., 2001). In addition, sensitivity to stressors following the transition to the workplace may contribute to relapse and job loss, frequently resulting in employment gaps. Along with a criminal record and the stigma associated with substance abuse, employment gaps, and a poor work history exacerbate the difficulty of obtaining employment (Schottenfeld et al., 1992; Sherba et al., 2018).

It is estimated that at least 20% of the US population has a family member with a SUD, indicating that these disorders affect a substantial number of families (Daley et al., 2018). Numerous studies and reports have documented negative effects on family, marital, financial, and emotional stability; parental competence; family functioning within and outside the family; and individual family members' physical and mental health, which constitutes a lack of support for people with SUD (Lander et al., 2013; Ward & Daley, 2014; Weisner, 2010; White & Savage, 2005; Young et al., 2015).

Divorce or separation due to marital conflict, incarceration, and repeated admissions to hospitals or rehabilitation centers may also occur and disrupt the family's stability (White & Daley, 2016). When a loved one decides to seek treatment for a substance use disorder (SUD), family members are concerned about the low rates of treatment admittance as well as the difficulties and limitations of treatment systems (Liepman et al., 2014; Wallace, 2014). Other barriers include access to medication-assisted treatment (MAT) for opioid addiction, limited professional care to support long-term recovery after a rehabilitation program, limits to funding to pay for certain types of treatment, and limited or lack of professional care to support long-term recovery after a rehabilitation program. Another barrier to treatment is the common absence of adequate treatment services in rural areas (Daley et al., 2018).

Suicide and suicide attempts are prevalent among individuals with opioid use disorder compared to the general population (Archambault et al., 2022). Although it can be difficult to distinguish between suicides and overdoses in people with substance use disorders, some researchers have demonstrated that lethal suicides in people with opioid use disorders are most frequently the result of intentional self-poisoning with poly substances that include opioids (Hesse et al., 2020; Pfeifer et al., 2021; Rockett et al., 2018). Others have even hypothesized that untreatable increases in opioid use disorders may also be contributing to the rise in suicide and overdose rates (Bohnert & Ilgen, 2019). Considering rising trends in opioid-related deaths, many of which are estimated to be suicides by individuals with opioid use disorders, it is crucial to gain a deeper understanding of the interrelated and concurrent problems associated with opioid use disorders and suicidal behaviors (Archambault et al., 2022; Bohnert & Ilgen, 2019, p. 71).

The prevalence of mental illness in the past year is estimated to be 64% among individuals with opioid use disorders (Archambault et al., 2022; Jones & McCance-Katz, 2019).

Consequently, mental health disorders are linked to suicidal ideation, plans, and attempts. Depression and borderline personality disorders are psychiatric risk factors associated with chronic pain and suicide. The authors also imply that persons with a history of depression are more likely to receive long-term opioid medication for non-cancer pain than those without a history of depression (Archambault et al., 2022; Braden et al., 2009). In addition, 19.1% of participants in a study on chronic pain were diagnosed with borderline personality disorder, and the authors report an increased risk of suicidal behavior among these patients (Campbell et al., 2015). Prior research has demonstrated that patients with an opioid use disorder are at increased risk for suicidal behavior and that certain prevalent comorbidities in this population are also associated with suicidal behavior (Archambault et al., 2022).

Statement of Problem

Individuals with comorbid mental health disorders and opioid use disorders who have experienced a greater prevalence of past overdose hospitalizations, past psychiatric hospitalizations, housing insecurity, incarceration, and psychological issues (life satisfaction, lower threshold for resilience, and low self-esteem) may have a much lower chance of recovering than those without a serious mental health disorder. Recovery is defined as reductions in substance use, improvement in biopsychosocial functioning, and remission from SUD (Baginski et al., 2022). According to SAMHSA (2020), the combined presence of substance use disorders and mental health disorders results in more severe functional impairment, poorer treatment outcomes, higher morbidity and mortality, increased treatment costs, and a higher risk for homelessness, incarceration, and suicide than if only one of these disorders were present. It can be extremely challenging to treat individuals with both OUD and mental health disorders (National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2021). Despite evidence indicating the need for comprehensive and integrated therapy to address comorbidity, research shows that only about 18% of SUD treatment programs and 9% of mental health treatment organizations can serve dually diagnosed patients (National Institute of Drug Abuse, 2021).

In the United States, SUD treatment is frequently compartmentalized from the larger healthcare system (Vekaria et al., 2021). Most frequently, primary care physicians are the first line of defense in the treatment of mental problems. Typically, the specialty of the mental health treatment system treats only severe mental illnesses, whereas the separate SUD treatment system provides drug therapy. However, none of these systems have an adequate breadth of knowledge to address the whole spectrum of difficulties presented by patients with dual diagnoses. Although this is gradually improving, some SUD treatment clinics and clinicians continue to be prejudiced against the use of any drugs, particularly those required to treat serious mental illnesses such as depression (Vekaria et al., 2021).

In addition, many substance abuse treatment programs do not employ professionals who can prescribe, deliver, and monitor drugs. When left untreated, patients with co-occurring disorders typically have worse health outcomes—including more mental illness symptomatology, more severe functional impairment, lower recovery rates, increased suicidal ideation and attempts, and higher rates of healthcare utilization—than those with a diagnosis of a severe mental health illness alone (Vekaria et al., 2021). Furthermore, there are numerous individuals in the criminal justice system who would benefit from treatment. In addition to substance abuse or addiction, an estimated 45% of those incarcerated in state and local prisons and jails have a mental health disorder. In these circumstances, however, appropriate treatment services for substance use

disorders and other mental health disorders are often unavailable. The treatment of comorbid illnesses can reduce not only medical comorbidities but also negative social effects, such as recidivism and reincarceration (National Institute of Health, 2022).

Statement of Purpose

The purpose of this study is to examine the demographic factors, such as multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity, that predict an increased risk of psychological issues such as life satisfaction, resilience, self-esteem, and personal characteristics such as past psychiatric hospitalizations and past overdose hospitalizations. OUD is a chronic condition characterized by recurrent relapse as well as substantial morbidity, mortality, and healthcare-related costs. Numerous adverse health effects are associated with overdose, addiction, and dependence in those who are dependent on opioids. Faced with this epidemic, there is an increasing need to identify potential OUD risk factors (Orhurhu et al., 2019). This study will identify pertinent potential risk factors that will assist substance abuse counselors with treatment and recovery for this population. These risk factors will determine the intrapersonal (involve only one individual's thoughts, emotions, ideas, values, and predispositions issues) and past behaviors of the individual, as well as the interpersonal (involving other people) factors relating to how our healthcare system may have failed this most vulnerable population, resulting in more relapses and deaths (Van Kleef et al., 2010). As such, the following research questions and hypotheses will be explored:

1. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict overdosing hospitalization?

H₀ 1: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict overdosing hospitalization.

H_a 1: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict overdosing hospitalization.

2. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict being hospitalized for mental illness reasons?

 H_0 2: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict being hospitalized for mental illness reasons.

H_a 2: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict being hospitalized for mental illness reasons.

3. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict self-esteem?

 H_0 3: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict self-esteem.

 H_a 3: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict self-esteem.

4. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict resilience?

H₀ 4: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict resilience.

 H_a 4: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict resilience.

5. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict life satisfaction?

 H_0 5: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict life satisfaction.

 H_a 5: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict life satisfaction.

Significance of the Study

Long-term undetected mental illness and/or co-occurring mental health disorders may impair a person's ability to make decisions regarding their health care. Clients who have been diagnosed with mental health disorders are more likely to receive opioid prescriptions, even though they have an increased risk of addiction and overdose. If additional barriers to receiving proven therapies, such as the stigma associated with both disorders, are added, many such clients find themselves facing an uphill battle to recover (National Institute of Health, 2022). While healthcare professionals are frequently on the front lines of treating substance use disorders, the majority have limited (if any) training in treating patients with co-occurring severe mental health disorders and OUDs (Providers Clinical Support System, 2021). Essentially, health professionals should be aware of potential risk factors when treating this population. Moreover, to utilize a successful integrative approach to treatment, both new and experienced substance abuse counselors must recognize these risk factors within this population to have a holistic view of their clients and create a more efficient and holistic path to recovery noting not only their client's history but also investigating the potential shortfalls of the mental health system.

Greater "recovery capital" may increase a person's ability to overcome such obstacles (Baginski et al., 2022). Rehabilitation capital is the amount of personal and environmental resources a person possesses in order to commence and sustain recovery. Recovery capital comprises aspects such as social support, physical and mental health, housing, and employment. Greater recovery capital is associated with reduced severity of addiction, improved treatment outcomes, and maintained recovery. There are evident societal disparities in the availability of recovery capital. Race, gender, and employment are recovery capital characteristics that are connected with the beginning and maintenance of substance abuse treatment (Baginski et al., 2022). Once substance abuse and mental health counselors are exposed to the potential recovery-impairing risk factors of this vulnerable population, they may be more aware of the treatment needs of this population. Ultimately, this study will assist both emerging and experienced substance abuse and mental health disorders by educating them on these psychosocial issues that significantly reduce the likelihood of recovery.

Terminology

Table 1

Term	Definition
Opioids	are a class of pharmaceuticals that includes opiates, the natural compounds generated from the opium poppy, and synthetic drugs with equivalent properties to natural opiates, which are extensively prescribed and commonly abused. An opioid is any substance that contains oxycodone or hydrocodone, as well as morphine, methadone, codeine, and fentanyl (Eitan et al., 2017).
Recovery	reductions in substance use, improvement in biopsychosocial functioning, and remission from substance use disorder (SUD) (Baginski et al., 2022).
Substance Use Disorder	involves patterns of symptoms caused by using a substance that an individual continues taking despite its negative effects (Volkow et al., 2019).
Opioid Addiction	is a severe, chronic, and relapsing mental health disease that may originate from legitimate medical conditions, recreational use, and experimental use (Eitan et al., 2017).
Rehabilitation Capital	is the amount of personal and environmental resources a person possesses in order to commence and sustain recovery (Baginski et al., 2022).
Life satisfaction	a general evaluation of a person's quality of life based on their own criteria (Yi, Liang, Rui, 2016).
Resilience	as the capacity of an individual to retain physical and mental health in the face of adversity, such as trauma, tragedy, threat, and other substantial stressors (Connor & Davidson, 2003).
Self Esteem	as the individual's evaluation of self-worth (Rizwan & Ahmad, 2015).

CHAPTER II

LITERATURE REVIEW

Opioid use disorder and mental health disorders in relation to various factors and life circumstances have been studied by previous researchers. Factors studied have included gender, age, quality of life, life satisfaction, resilience, self-esteem, hope, depression, psychiatric hospitalizations, overdose hospitalizations, health insurance, and housing insecurity.

Gender/Age

Gender may be one of the most evident potential biological predictors of disease, and it is increasingly acknowledged that male and female medication responses are qualitatively distinct and clinically significant (Huhn et al., 2019). There is evidence in the preclinical literature that sex hormones confer sex-based differences in opioid-based effects, and animal studies suggest that females are more susceptible to the positive reinforcing effects of opioids. The negative reinforcing effects of opioids promote dysregulation, escalation, and relapse, which may also increase the rate of OUD progression. The majority of publications on this topic have focused on outcomes linked to opioid-based analgesia and there is a scarcity of empirical data available about sex-based differences in OUD treatment results (Huhn et al., 2019; Plawecki et al., 2018; Priddy et al., 2017, Randall et al., 2017).

With the recent shift in the prevalence of opioid misuse and abuse among the female population, women are at a greater risk than men for the misuse of prescription opioid medications and the development of opioid use disorder (Koons et al., 2018). Among treatment centers in the United States, women reported significantly higher rates of abuse (15.4% vs. 11.1%), were more likely to be prescribed opioids, and were 48% more likely than men to use any prescription drugs. Several factors contribute to the increasing rates of prescription opioid abuse and prescribing patterns among women. First, women are more likely than men to seek out health professionals and are more frequently targeted in pharmaceutical marketing. This, combined with the fact that physicians are more likely to prescribe opioids to female patients, places women at a greater risk for medication abuse and, consequently, opioid use disorder. Second, women are more likely to experience gender-based violence and sexual abuse, as well as the ensuing psychological consequences, such as post-traumatic stress disorder, anxiety, and depression (Koons et al., 2018).

The psychological effects of trauma may heighten the risk of opioid abuse (Koons et al., 2018). In a study conducted by Vigna-Taglianti et al. (2016), women were more likely than men to have psychiatric comorbidities, such as depression, self-injury, and suicide attempts. According to El-Gohari et al. (2022), although the precise causal relationship between psychiatric disorders and SUDs remained unclear, it was suggested that the interaction between genetic susceptibility, shared brain circuitry, epigenetic influences, and environmental stimuli could explain this association. Also, clients with psychiatric disorders would have impaired judgment, leading them to use the drug to self-medicate their psychiatric symptoms; however, substance use would be an independent risk factor for the emergence of psychiatric disorders.

This assumed comorbidity between psychiatric disorders and SUDs may have a negative effect on the course, treatment, and outcome of both disorders, as the symptoms of psychiatric disorders typically exacerbate the symptoms of SUDs, and vice versa. These conditions are difficult to treat and are more frequently treated with opioids than other diseases (Koons et al., 2018).

Significant roles are played by sex- and gender-specific risk factors in opioid use disorder. Among women, risk factors for opioid use disorder include a history of alcoholism, an age of 54, a history of inhalant use, and a history of drug overdose (Koons et al., 2018). Women, whites, and middle-aged adults were among the top three groups with the greatest increase in prescription opioid and heroin overdoses (Unick et al., 2013). Men have different risk factors, including being 34 years old, living with their children, using hallucinogens, and experiencing recent depression (Koons et al., 2018). Women with opioid use disorder have more physical and mental health issues, a family history of psychiatric disorder, and childcare responsibilities, and they are more likely than men to begin using opioids with a prescription. A history of tobacco abuse has also been linked to the nonmedical use of prescription opioids among women (Koons et al., 2018). Patterns of prescribing that increase the availability of controlled substances, such as opioids, are associated with an increased risk of misuse and abuse. While men are more likely to obtain opioids from dealers, women are more likely to obtain the drugs from friends, family, or legitimate prescriptions (Hemsing et al., 2016).

Age is a significant covariable when assessing the risk of opioid use disorder in women (Koons et al., 2018). Young and middle-aged women report higher global pain scores (compared to men and younger women) while being treated for chronic pain, which increases their risk for dose escalation under current therapy guidelines (LeResche et al., 2015). Theoretically, this dose increase could result in a longer course of treatment and an increased risk of dependence and withdrawal. Multiple reports have noted a greater risk for opioid misuse among women 65 years of age compared with men of the same age group (Koons et al., 2018).

At nearly 10%, older women have the highest prevalence of long-term opioid use (Hemsing et al., 2016). Other risk factors, including low income, mental health issues, and physical health issues, increase the likelihood of opioid abuse and misuse among women of this age group (Hemsing et al., 2016). Women initiate drug use at lower doses, increase their use more rapidly than men, and are more likely to relapse after a period of abstinence than men (Koons et al., 2018). Women with opioid use disorder are typically younger, married, unemployed, and have an earlier onset age of heroin use (Vigna-Taglianti et al., 2016). Despite these differences, knowledge gaps remain about differences in methadone treatment outcomes between the sexes (Koons et al., 2018). A study by Marchand et al. (2015) found a difference in satisfaction with methadone treatment based on dosage in men versus women. Another study by Evan et al. (2015) noted that gender was a factor in reducing mortality risk based on a treatment plan. Men had reduced mortality when the focus was placed on employment and medical problems with interventions to reduce overdose risk. Women had more success with attending to the concurrent use of sympathomimetics and other opioids (Evan et al., 2015). Women have a higher rate of adverse effects to naltrexone therapy than men (Herbeck et al., 2016). Buprenorphine has been found to be more effective in treating women than men. Despite an equal need for opioid addiction treatment interventions between the sexes, and existing literature reporting sex and gender differences in response to such treatment, there remains a dearth of studies addressing these differences. It is known that out-of-treatment females use opioids more often, spend more

money on drugs, and earn more illegal income than those not in treatment programs (Koons et al., 2018).

Psychological and Psychosocial Factors

Quality of Life

Quality of life (QoL) is an elusive concept that can be approached at various levels of generality, ranging from the assessment of societal or community well-being to the specific evaluation of the circumstances of individuals or groups (Kaplan & Ries, 2007). The concept of quality of life encompasses how an individual evaluates the "goodness" of numerous aspects of life. These evaluations include an individual's emotional responses to life events, temperament, sense of life fulfillment and satisfaction, and satisfaction with work and personal relationships (Theofilou, 2013). In the rehabilitation literature, the concept of quality of life (QoL) as a psychosocial construct, process, measure, goal, and outcome has gained significant popularity over the past 35 years. As both a target and a process–outcome indicator, QoL has become one of the most prominent and central concepts in rehabilitation (Stebnicki & Marini, 2012).

Substance use disorders are a significant public health concern that is characterized by maladaptive patterns of substance use that result in clinically severe impairment or distress and can impact physical or psychological functioning, social relationships, employment, and other areas of life (Ciobanu et al., 2020). Concerning mental disorders, there has been a recent and growing interest in research on the relationships between QoL or health-related quality of life (HRQoL) and the coping strategies employed by patients with chronic disorders, particularly depression, and schizophrenia. Health-related quality of life (HRQOL) is an individual's or
group's perceived physical and mental health over time (U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, 2021). The role of coping strategies in HRQoL is of interest in the field of addiction, as a treatment for substance dependence aims not only to promote abstinence or significant reductions in substance use but also to improve the patient's quality of life (Ciobanu et al., 2020).

According to Teoh Bing Fei (2016), patients with substance use and psychiatric disorders have a significantly lower quality of life than patients with either diagnosis alone. Concerning the effects of psychiatric disorders on treatment outcomes and psychosocial functioning in OUD populations, the research findings are inconsistent. According to some studies, psychiatric comorbidity in patients with OUD is associated with poorer treatment outcomes, such as higher risks for relapse to opioid use and non-adherence to pharmacotherapy, poorer psychosocial or physical health status, and lower quality of life (Cacciola et al., 2001; Carpentier et al., 2009; Litz & Leslie, 2017; Zhu et al., 2021). Additionally, patients on methadone maintenance therapy exhibited a correlation between mental comorbidity and lower quality of life, with the severity of psychiatric disorders being associated with a lower quality of life. Psychiatric comorbidity continues to be a significant contributor to low quality of life, even though other factors such as physical problems, may partially explain the differences in quality of life (Teoh Bing Fei et al., 2016). Many more adults with opioid use disorder (OUD) suffer more modest, albeit serious, impairments of quality of life and functional capacity that has received considerably less attention from the popular media and academic literature (Rhee & Rosenheck, 2019). The evaluation of policy efforts to address the current opioid crisis has focused on reducing the risk of overdose and death, which fortunately affect a relatively small number of people, whereas treatment trials have emphasized abstinence or several days of drug use, which are both

significant indicators of disease severity (Rhee & Rosenheck, 2019). However, abstinence from opioids is not the only relevant outcome of treatment for opioid use disorder (Bray et al., 2017).

A far greater proportion of the OUD population suffers from more serious impairments affecting their health-related quality of life (HRQoL) and their ability to work impairments that are less visible to the media and perhaps more difficult to assess, but whose improvement may represent the ultimate objective of both policy and clinical intervention. Adults with current OUD were approximately half as likely to be employed as those without a history of OUD. However, it appears that adults with a history of OUD have recovered to the point where they no longer differ from those who have never experienced OUD. This demonstrates that a degree of recovery is possible, particularly in terms of social and/or economic participation (Rhee & Rosenheck, 2019).

Happiness is an important topic in the research on well-being and QoL since it has been linked to mental and physical health, lifespan, and mortality (Burns & Crisp, 2022). Happiness is also associated with and precedes a variety of successful life outcomes and behaviors that facilitate life success in a variety of domains, including employment opportunities, community involvement, and social relationships. In contrast to mental distress, which focuses on dysfunction, happiness emphasizes the prevalence of pleasant over negative experiences and overall life satisfaction (Burns & Crisp, 2022). According to Onal et al. (2022), poor quality of life is characterized by reduced life satisfaction among individuals. Extensive empirical research has investigated the relationship between life satisfaction and self-perception of health (Bobinac et al. 2010; Garrido et al., 2013; Graham et al. 2011; Bo¨ckerman et al. 2011). Given that life satisfaction is a more comprehensive concept than self-perceived health, the prevalent empirical

approach considers life satisfaction the outcome variable and self-perceived health the independent variable. Studies adopting this approach have revealed that those individuals with better (poorer) self-perceived health report higher (lower) levels of satisfaction with life (Garrido et al., 2013). Due to numerous studies on the relationship between quality of life and life satisfaction, the researcher will not include quality of life as a variable in this study.

Life Satisfaction

Life satisfaction (LS) is becoming an increasingly crucial aspect of subjective well-being (El-Genady & Wahab, 2020). As the primary indicator of subjective individual well-being, life satisfaction is also a general evaluation of a person's quality of life based on their own criteria (Yi, Liang, Rui, 2016). Previous research has demonstrated a close relationship between life satisfaction and social support. There is a direct correlation between subjective life satisfaction and social support (Cui & Yao 2012; Feng & Wan 2016; Ma & Wang, 2013). LS does not concentrate on a specific moment in time or particular aspects of life, such as employment or health. Nonetheless, LS substantially impacts health and happiness, and a higher LS is associated with a longer life expectancy, greater disease tolerance, and fewer mental disorders (El-Genady & Wahab, 2020). Moreover, according to a recent study on poverty and psychosocial issues, income poverty will have health and psychosocial effects on middle-aged and older adults by 2021 (Cheung & Chou, 2019; Hajek & Konig, 2021; Lee & Chou, 2019). The Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS) created by Pavot and Diener (1993), was utilized in this research along with the Beck Depression Scale of 890 individuals. Poverty was related to life satisfaction, positive affect, social isolation, and optimism (Hajek & Konig, 2021).

Cudjoe et al. (2020) and Menec et al. (2019) found a correlation between beginning income poverty, social isolation, and pessimistic outlooks. They also identified depression symptoms, loneliness, social isolation, and individual well-being as psychosocial factors. Moreover, the researchers emphasized the significance of avoiding "social isolation and loss of optimism" (Hajek & Konig, 2021, p. 911). Low self-reported LS is not only associated with poor health, but also with an increased risk of suicide, including drug-related deaths. Opioid-dependent individuals seeking treatment have an LS that is considerably lower than the general population (Gaulen et al., 2022). Indeed, LS is recognized as a crucial criterion for assessing the mental health of drug users and has garnered much scientific interest (Cao & Zhou, 2021). Zullig et al. (2001) examined the relationship between substance use practices and perceived global LS in a sample of 5,033 high school students. They discovered that these behaviors are adversely connected with global LS and that sociodemographic characteristics such as gender, marital status, and race have a substantial impact on global LS in drug users. Similar findings were found in an earlier work by Clifford et al. (1991). In a recent study, Moschion and Powdthavee (2017) investigated the link between LS and drug usage in further depth. They argued that a decline in LS may precede the use of illegal substances, whereas the use of illegal drugs during the past six months may reduce LS at the present time. In numerous population groups, including the elderly (Gow et al., 2007), prison officers (Onyishi et al., 2012), undergraduate students (Kong et al., 2015), and individuals with substance use disorder, social support (SS) have been shown to be an important predictor of LS (Cao & Liang, 2017). SS typically involves emotional or material support and aid from all sectors of society, including parents, family, and friends (Cao & Zhou, 2021; Hyde et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2017).

Physical and mental health consequences have been associated with SS (Cao & Zhou, 2021; Sarason, 2013). Previous research, (Wang et al., 2018), has also studied the processes (e.g., the mediating and moderating effects of specific factors) underlying the relationship between SS and LS. Social support is a crucial and effective psychological resource that enables individuals to manage stress and negative emotions. Researchers discovered that people who received help from family, friends, or professionals reported greater happiness and life satisfaction. For example, Kong and You (2013) investigated the mediating effect of loneliness and self-esteem on the relationship between social support and LS in post-adolescent youth, establishing a comprehensive mediation effects model. Kong et al. (2013) investigated the moderating influence of SS and subjective well-being in this situation in greater detail. Numerous studies (Cao & Zhou, 2021; Kong et al., 2013; Sarason, 2013; Wu et al., 2017) have examined the effect of SS on LS; however, the majority of these studies have focused on normal population groups (non-user groups) and not on individuals with substance use disorder.

Resilience

Resilience is defined as the capacity of an individual to retain physical and mental health in the face of adversity, such as trauma, tragedy, threat, and other substantial stressors (Connor & Davidson, 2003). The definitions of resilience are generally based on two concepts; adversity and positive adaptions which conceptualize individuals' capacity to bounce back when exposed to ranges of misfortunes. Recent studies tend to define resilience, beyond the scope of a trait, as a dynamic psychological process that is susceptible to demographic factors including population, time, and place (Brennan, 2008; Hayter & Dorstyn, 2014; Richards et al., 2016) and tend to promote other psychological traits such as affect balance, self-esteem, and perceived social support (Yang et al., 2020). Resilience enhances one's self-confidence, hence facilitating

support-seeking behavior and utilization of the support system in bad conditions (Rathinam & Ezhumalai, 2021). Resilience enables individuals to consider their personal and social resilience to withstand crises to relapse of substance abuse.

A relapse may be avoided if an intervention focuses on increasing resilience and emphasizes the individual's strengths and resources to help the individual overcome obstacles. There is considerable research (Braverman, 2001; Johnson & Wiechelt, 2004; Meschke & Patterson, 2003; Moe et al, 2007; Rudzinski et. al, 2017) examining recovery from substance use disorder as a form of resilience; however, there are few studies that address resilience in substance use disorder in depth (Rathinam & Ezhumalai, 2021). Previous research has demonstrated that resilience is positively correlated with both LS (Shi, Wang, Bian, and Wang, 2015) and SS (Cao & Zhou, 2021; Wilks & Croom, 2008). Because SS is associated with resilience and both resilience and SS are predictors of LS, it is important to evaluate the potential mediating effects of resilience on the association between SS and LS in order to improve our understanding of the mental health of individuals with substance use disorder. Wu et al. (2017) examined the mediating effect of resiliency on the association between SS and health-related quality of life among Chinese rural elders residing in nursing homes. This precedent influenced the current investigation. In addition, according to Cole et al. (2015), resilience has been shown to improve mental health. Resilience could potentially help people with substance use disorders maintain their physical and mental health in the face of adversity (Cao & Zhou, 2021). These findings provide important insight into the role of resilience in the association between SS and LS (Cao & Zhou, 2021).

Numerous research has demonstrated the correlation between resilience and perceived social support. The majority of research examines the impact of perceived social support on resilience,

indicating that those with strong perceived social support have a higher level of resilience. (Howard & Hughes, 2012; Mo et al., 2014; Wilks & Spivey, 2010; Yang et al., 2020). A small number of researchers have investigated how resilient individuals expand their social networks and acquire support from the existing network. For example, Sexton et al. (2010) found that resilient individuals are more likely to share their ideas and locate sympathetic friends, which are the most important elements for alleviating psychological stresses. Furthermore, perceived social support has been identified with the role of maintaining physical and mental well-being. Notably, studies have found that people with high perceived social support are reported with a higher level of life satisfaction (Kong & You, 2013; Paterson & Hakim-Larson, 2012), whereas some studies suggest that perceived social support has a negative association with perceived stress (Reeve et al., 2013; Su et al., 2013). Based on the present observations, the authors hypothesized that perceived social support is the third mediator of the study (Yang et al., 2020). According to Cao and Zhou (2021), there is a lack of literature that simultaneously examines the relationships between all three variables in drug users. Particularly, the mechanisms linking resilience with the other two variables (i.e., perceived social support and perceived stress) have not been studied in substance abuse disorder patients.

Although the literature on resilience in individuals with SUDs is limited – in part due to inconsistencies in the operationalization of resilience (i.e., resilience as a trait, outcome, or process) (Rudzinski et al., 2017) – several studies have produced intriguing findings (Ingram and Price, 2010; Martinez et al., 202; Windle et al., 2011). In a large study conducted primarily with African Americans from low-income communities, individuals with greater resilience and a history of childhood abuse and/or other trauma were found to engage in less dangerous alcohol and illicit drug use over the course of their lives (Martinez et al. 2021; Wingo et al., 2014).

Individuals who were exposed to childhood abuse or other traumatic experiences appeared to have a reduced risk of substance abuse (Wang et al., 2021). Studies have shown that resiliency provides psychological protection against adverse events (Bonanno, 2004; Masten et al., 1990; US Department of Health and Human Services, 2016; Woods, 2017). Social connections, religiosity, toughness, and personal competence are associated with psychological resilience. Positive childhood or adolescent experiences may enhance personal strengths and competencies that aid in the remission of mental disorders in adulthood. Resilience may also protect adolescents from the dangers of substance abuse. Religiosity, as an aspect of resilience, has the 'buffer' effect (a process in which a psychosocial resource reduces the impact of life stress on psychological well-being) of increasing adolescents' resilience to substance use (Wang et al., 2021; Wills et al., 2003).

In recent decades, there has been an increase in the number of studies examining the relationship between spirituality/religion (S/R) and health, with the majority finding positive results (Lucchetti and Lucchetti, 2014). A previous study discovered that S/R is typically associated with improved mental health, including lower levels of depression, anxiety, stress, suicidal ideation, and drug use (Schwalm, Zandavalli, de Castro Filho, & Lucchetti, 2022). According to some authors (Manning, 2013; Smith et al., 2012; Vieira, 2010), spirituality is one of the fundamental characteristics that predict resilience, along with a number of others that relate to both dimensions, such as optimism and purpose. Manning (2013) described spirituality as "a path to resilience" in a study that included older women. Furthermore, according to Koenig's (2009) review correlating S/R and mental health, S/R confers resilience.

Another study investigating the relationship between resilience and mental health problems in a sample of methadone-maintained patients found that greater resilience was independently associated with fewer depressive and anxious symptoms (Jiao et al., 2017; Martinez et al., 2021). In addition to these protective effects on psychiatric symptoms, resilience appears to be associated with the efficacy of treatment interventions. In the aforementioned study, McGuire et al. (2018), found PTSD symptoms decreased in patients with greater resilience, which the authors hypothesized was associated with greater cognitive flexibility, allowing patients to better comprehend and integrate their traumatic experiences. Resilience may also facilitate the use of more adaptive coping strategies, such as social support, thereby reducing the need for patients to self-medicate with illicit drugs and alcohol (Martinez et al., 2021; McGuire et al., 2018). A recent study by McDonnell et al. (2018) found evidence that resilience may serve as a compensatory strategy for coping with Early Maladaptive Schema (EMS); a pervasive and dysfunctional psychological pattern developed in childhood that defines an individual's understanding of themselves and their relationships. Polydrug users with opioid use disorder (OUD) had higher EMS, emotional dysregulation, maladaptive coping, and lower resilience when compared to healthy controls (Mc Donnell et al., 2018). Higher levels of emotional dysregulation, maladaptive coping, and EMS were found to be negatively associated with resilience (Martinez et al., 2021).

Self-Esteem

Self-esteem is defined as the individual's evaluation of self-worth (Rizwan & Ahmad, 2015). Self-esteem is affected both by our ideas about how we are measuring up to our own standards (primarily internal) and by our ability to control our sense of self in interactions with others (primarily external). Both processes have significant effects on how we feel about

ourselves. People with high self-esteem have a positive opinion of themselves and are generally content with who they are (Bordens & Horowitz, 2008). People typically possess positive, well-grounded, and secure feelings of self-worth (Kernis, 2000). Also, people are more capable of making new friends, communicating about themselves, offering emotional support to others, and resolving interpersonal conflicts (Buhrmester et al., 1988).

People with low self-esteem, however, frequently experience feelings of failure, incompetence, and worthlessness. Low self-esteem increases the likelihood of experiencing feelings of weakness, helplessness, hopelessness, fear, vulnerability, fragility, incompleteness, and inadequacy (Bordens & Horowitz, 2008). Low self-esteem can cause patients or others to hate and reject themselves, which can be expressed directly or indirectly (Stuart & Sundeen, 1987). In the past few decades, research on self-esteem deficits and their debilitating effects among psychiatric patients has increased (Rizwan & Ahmad, 2015). The research on low selfesteem and its paralyzing effects in psychiatric populations has already revealed a great deal about this phenomenon (Rizwan & Ahmad, 2015). According to O'Brien et al. (2006), low selfesteem is either a diagnostic criterion or an associated feature of nearly two dozen mental disorders in the DSM-V (2013) in patients with psychiatric disorders or mental illnesses. Multiple psychiatric disorders, including major depressive disorders, dysthymic disorder, anxiety disorders, eating disorders, sexual dysfunction, personality disorders (Leary & MacDonald, 2003), schizophrenia (Lysaker et al., 2007; Gureje et al., 2004), obsessive-compulsive disorder (Fava et al., 1996; Stumpf & Parker, 2000), and opioid dependence disorder (Frances & Franklin, 1988) in young adults are associated with low self-esteem. Several researchers have also indicated low self-esteem to be one of the factors associated with suicidal behavior in drug dependence disorders. Wilke (2004) found a significant correlation in the expected direction

between self-esteem and abstinence, while gender had no effect. On the other hand, those with lower levels of self-esteem, regardless of abstinence or continued use, were found to have an almost identical likelihood of suicidal ideation, regardless of their substance use status (Rizwan & Ahmad, 2010).

Previous studies have demonstrated the long-term, positive effects of self-esteem on both abstinence and major life problems following treatment (Ferrari et al. 2012; May et al., 2015; Richter et al. 1991). Additionally, higher levels of self-esteem are related to other positive individual coping resources, such as hope and self-regulation, and have been shown to reflect self-liking, competence, and self-confidence in a recovery population (Porcaro et al., 2021). The significance and implications of this fundamental importance of self-esteem in the course of various disorders continue to attract the interest of researchers. The relative impact of self-esteem and psychiatric disorders on one another is also the subject of controversy (Rizwan & Ahmad, 2015). Others argue that there is a vicious cycle between low self-esteem and psychiatric disorders. Some researchers, (Khanam, Rizwan, & Bilal, 2008; Silverstone & Salsali, 2003; Steinhausen, 2005) argue that low self-esteem makes individuals susceptible to psychiatric disorders, while others contend that psychiatric disorders lower one's self-esteem (Rizwan & Ahmad, 2015).

Stigma is typically defined as a trait that is profoundly discrediting and reduces the bearer to a tainted, devalued person (Dar et al., 2020). For millions of people with mental disorders, stigma remains the most significant barrier to a better life. Stigma can affect whether individuals with mental disorders seek treatment and adhere to it, as well as their self-esteem and social adjustment. Even though individuals avoid the label of mental illness, stigma creates a barrier to

help-seeking. Self-stigma is the hostility that individuals with mental disorder feel toward themselves (Dar et al., 2020). Stigmatization related to substance use disorder is present in many forms and misconceptions (Abbas & Iqbal, 2018). One of the misconceptions associated with stigmatization is that persons with substance use disorder are perceived as criminals rather than as persons having a chronic mental disease. Another misperception about people having substance use disorder is that they take drugs intentionally and they do not want to control their drug-taking behavior. Individuals with SUDs are viewed as having self-inflicted the disorder, which leads to hostility, punishment, and avoidance of relationships (Abbas & Iqbal, 2018).

Stigma also has a significant impact on the mental health and self-esteem of individuals with substance use disorder (Abbas & Iqbal, 2018). The literature demonstrates a strong relationship between substance use disorder, stigma, and self-esteem. Livingston et al. (2012), Link et al. (2001), and Verhaeghe et al. (2008) have found that stigmatization in substance use disorder is associated with lower self-esteem. In their research, MacArthur and MacArthur (2004) found a significant negative correlation between low self-esteem and substance use disorder. In addition, Livingston and Boyd (2010) noted that stigma affects the hope, self-esteem, and self-efficacy of individuals with substance use disorder. Other research findings also indicate that stigma associated with mental disorder and substance abuse is a significant factor in low self-esteem (Abbas & Iqbal, 2018; Crocker & Quinn, 2003; Rosenfield, 1997). Self-stigma is also believed to contribute to low self-esteem, feelings of shame, and worthlessness associated with substance use disorder. Self-stigma or internalized stigma is associated with poor physical and mental health, delayed treatment seeking, and poor quality of life in individuals with substance use disorders (Dar et al., 2020). Crocker and Quinn (2003); Rosenfield (1997) have also found that when people with mental disorders, particularly those with substance use disorders, are stigmatized and discriminated against, they internalize these negative societal attitudes which can negatively impact their self-esteem, self-worth, and self-importance (Abbas & Iqbal, 2018).

Hope

A positive outlook on the future has been conceptualized as hope, which consists of two cognitive constructs: pathways thinking and agency thinking (Reddon, & Ivers, 2022). Pathways thinking refers to an individual's ability to identify pathways and contingency pathways to reach the desired goal. Agency thinking reflects one's perceived capacity or motivational energy to use these pathways to reach a desired goal of recovery. A previous systematic review identified hope as a critical component of a conceptual framework for personal recovery. Other researchers have found that hope is an important source of personal recovery capital for preventing negative affective symptoms (such as anxiety and depression) during substance abuse recovery (Leamy et al., 2011; May et al., 2015). In addition, both hope-pathway and hope-agency domains have been associated with enhanced impulse control among individuals recovering from alcohol and substance dependence (Ferrari et al., 2012; Reddon & Ivers, 2022).

Although the development of hope has been identified as a crucial process in addiction recovery, the evaluation of interventions to enhance hope within the context of addiction is limited. Only three studies have investigated the relationship between measures of hope and substance use or relapse rates, with inconclusive findings (Irving et al., 1998; Mathis et al., 2009; Mohammadpoorasl et al., 2012). According to Porcaro et al. (2021), higher levels of hope are associated with positive outcomes, such as higher levels of life satisfaction, optimism, and wellbeing. Hope is linked to successful abstinence and a better quality of life according to previous research on recovery (Irving et al., 1998). High levels of hope in recovery are also associated with

preparedness for situational threats, the ability to generate a larger number of strategies to achieve goals, and the use of more adaptive strategies to combat recovery threats (Porcaro et al., 2021). As the use of unregulated substances such as opioids continues to rise in a variety of settings, it will be important to evaluate how sources of personal recovery capital, such as hope, influence substance use behaviors in order to promote recovery among those with opioid dependence (Reddon, & Ivers, 2022). Due to numerous studies on the relationship between hope and self-esteem, the researcher will not include hope as a variable in this study.

Depression

Depression is a common and serious medical condition that negatively impacts how a person feels, thinks, and behaves (Benazzi, 2022). An estimated 21.0 million adults in the United States experienced at least one major depressive episode; 8.4% of all U.S. adults aged 18 or older (National Institute of Health, 2020). During 2013–2016, 8.1% of American adults aged 20 and over had depression in a given 2-week period (Brody et al., 2018). Depressed mood and loss of interest or pleasure are the core symptoms of major depressive disorder (MDD), and at least one of them is required for diagnosis (DSM-5-TR, 2022). These symptoms reflect the belief that depression is primarily a mood or affective disorder. In both official schemes, the following symptoms contribute to a diagnosis of depression: appetite or weight loss or gain; insomnia or hypersomnia; agitation or retardation; loss of energy or fatigue; loss of confidence or selfesteem; worthlessness or guilt; reduced concentration or indecisiveness; thoughts of suicide or suicide attempt (DSM-5-TR, 2022). Major depressive disorder (MDD) is commonly comorbid with opioid use disorder, and is a prevalent psychiatric condition among adults in the United States (U.S.). 7.1% of Americans aged 18 and older, or 17.3 million adults, suffer from MDD disorder each year in the United States (National Institute of Mental Health, 2017). It is well-

known that major depression is common in patients with chronic pain. Particularly those suffering from severe, multifocal, long-lasting, and incapacitating pain (Paykel, 2022). (Sullivan, 2018).

Depression and pain reinforce each other, making one more likely and difficult to treat. The following is how researchers from a World Health Organization prospective study of chronic pain in primary care summarized their findings on the causal relationship between depression and pain: "... at baseline, persistent pain predicted the onset of a psychological disorder with the same strength that a baseline psychological disorder predicted the onset of persistent pain" (Gureje et al., 2001, p. 196). Depression aggravates chronic pain, which increases opioid prescriptions (Sullivan, 2018).

Hasin et al. (2018), Gold et al. (2020), Siru et al. (2009), and Katon et al. (2007) have demonstrated substantial correlations between MDD and various psychiatric diseases, including anxiety disorder, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia. In addition, MDD relates to chronic medical disorders such as heart failure, hypertension, and brain trauma. Studies have indicated that people with MDD may have several psychiatric and chronic medical illnesses in the general population; however, less is known regarding co-morbid psychiatric and chronic medical conditions with MDD in OUD patients. Also, the likelihood of developing MDD is significantly lower for men. However, little or no research has been found regarding gender differences in the relationships between several mental and chronic illnesses and MDD in OUD patients (Nwabueze et al., 2022).

Halbert et al. (2016) found that patients with current mood disorders initiated opioids slightly more frequently (about 2% in each case) for both acute and chronic pain conditions. As a result,

clients with depression begin to use opioid medication somewhat more frequently than nondepressed patients, but they are twice as likely to progress to long-term use. Even though mood disorders had a substantial relative effect on progression to long-term opioid usage, it is crucial to emphasize that advancement rates were generally low, ranging from 5% to 11% for acute pain issues and 20% to 37% for chronic pain illnesses (Halbert et al., 2016). Clients with chronic pain and depression may use opioids to compensate for a diminished opiate receptor response to stresses (Sullivan, 2018). Individuals with depression appear to sustain opioid use at lower levels of pain intensity and higher levels of physical function than patients without depression. Longterm opioid therapy has been demonstrated to increase the risk of incident, recurring, and treatment-resistant depression in trials in which confounding by indication was rigorously controlled. Clients with depression may tend to abuse opioids because they take them to relieve insomnia and stress. Depression appears to also raise the likelihood of addiction or nonmedical use of prescription opioids in adolescents and adults. This higher prevalence of nonmedical opioid usage may be the mechanism by which depression raises the risk of opioid use disorder in patients with chronic pain (Sullivan, 2018).

In hospitals, depression has been linked to an increased risk of inpatient admissions, length of stay, and 30-day readmission risk. Similarly, patients with SUDs have increased visits to the emergency department (ED) and hospitalizations as inpatients. When co-occurring with MDD, substance use disorders are associated with increased psychiatric and other medical utilization, including hospitalizations, lengths of stay, and costs (largely attributed to increased psychiatric inpatient encounters (Vekaria et al., 2021). The existence of depression or MDD complicates the treatment of SUDs, whereas the co-occurrence of depression or MDD and SUDs exacerbates physical and mental health impairment, as well as poor treatment results, which lead to increased

morbidity, mortality, and healthcare costs (Wang et al., 2022). Patients with MDD or SUD who undergo treatment are frequent users of health care services. Individuals with MDD who receive primary care have generally more yearly healthcare visits, referrals to specialists, laboratory testing, radiologic scans, and procedures than patients without MDD (Wang et al., 2022). The researcher will not include depression as a variable in this study.

Past Psychiatric Hospitalizations/Past Overdose Hospitalizations

Clients with substance use disorders are seven times more likely to be hospitalized than the general population, and OUD hospitalizations are on the rise (Song, 2017). The rate of hospitalizations for opioid dependence or abuse averaged 13%, whereas hospitalizations due to opioid poisoning and heroin poisoning averaged 3% (Song, 2017). Hospitalization is a crucial time for engaging, treating, and supporting OUD patients. Support for these patients impacts not only OUD treatment but also hospital and outpatient care for any illness (King et al., 2022). Due to escalating rates of morbidity and mortality associated with opioid misuse, hospitalizations connected to opioid have increased significantly in the United States (US). Over 600,000 prescription opioid and heroin overdose-related hospital admissions occurred in the United States between 2000 and 2012, resulting in an increase in annual hospitalization expenses of more than \$700 million (Liu et al., 2019). OUD is especially expensive to treat, as they are the most frequent users of healthcare among patients with SUDs and are more prone to require crisis and drug use-related services (Vekaria et al., 2021).

Although OUD belongs to the same group as other SUDs, a number of characteristics distinguish OUD from other SUDs in terms of specialist management and therapy (Vekaria et al., 2021). Opioid withdrawal symptoms are significantly more severe than those of other narcotics

and can lead to physical dependence within 4–8 weeks. In addition, the availability and accessibility of prescription opioids in medical practice exacerbated the opioid epidemic and facilitated non-medical heroin usage. Users who relapse on opioids face a considerably higher risk of overdose and death than those who relapse on cannabis or alcohol. The successful treatment of OUD requires individuals to be on drugs (such as buprenorphine, methadone, or long-acting injectable naltrexone), which in turn requires healthcare practitioners and clinics to be a part of this treatment "(Vekaria et al., 2021).

Researchers have found that outpatient treatment following hospitalization is associated with better outcomes, such as reduced drug and alcohol use, fewer substance use problems, and lower arrest rates (Gilbert, 1988; McCarty et al., 2014; McKay, 2009; Peterson et al., 1994; Reif et al., 2014), and patients with a substance use disorder who do not receive follow-up services are at a much higher risk of being readmitted (Blodgett et al., 2014; McCarty et al., 2014; Reif et al., 2014). It has been demonstrated that veteran participation in outpatient treatment relates to a decreased two-year mortality rate. Research has found that only 49.4% of clients discharged from an inpatient substance addiction detoxification stay received follow-up mental health or substance abuse therapy within 30 days after discharge (Naeger et al., 2016). Approximately 50% of adult clients with a mental illness develop a SUD (Takamura et al., 2021). Due to this increased risk, providers may be more inclined to withhold home opioids from patients admitted to a psychiatric hospital, even if they require treatment for pain. In fact, reluctance to treat acute pain with opioids has been reported among hospitalized patients with known OUD, leading to undertreatment. Polypharmacy involving nonopioid medications may also be a problem in this population, despite not being specifically mentioned in the inpatient setting. For example, polypharmacy has been associated with the use of nonopioid adjunctive pain medications, such

as gabapentin. In addition, there is evidence that withholding opioid medications during medical hospitalizations may result in patient dissatisfaction (Takamura et al., 2021).

Smith and Mark (2014) discovered that the annual percentage of commercially insured clients who received outpatient treatment for a mental health illness or SUD within 30 days of a linked inpatient admission had continuously grown (Naeger et al., 2016). In 2012, 66.1% of patients with commercial insurance who had an inpatient stay for substance misuse received at least one outpatient visit within 30 days after discharge (Smith & Mark, 2014). A considerable proportion of patients do not obtain outpatient follow-up therapy, even though several clinical guidelines urge that individuals with a substance use disorder undergo ongoing care after an intensive inpatient treatment program. Being female, enrolled in a behavioral health carve-out plan, and having lower cost-sharing requirements for an outpatient substance abuse visit are factors linked with receiving follow-up care following a SUD detoxification hospitalization (Naeger et al., 2016). Harris et al. (2006) investigated the factors associated with months of participation in continuing care after discharge from a residential SUD treatment program. They discovered that being African American, having more SUD and psychiatric symptoms, having more recovery resources, and feeling the treatment personnel as supportive were all related to longer involvement in continuing care. The authors also discovered a positive link between prior contact with a behavioral health practitioner before the intense treatment session and engagement in continuing care. Timko et al. (2016) discovered in their study of veterans that being black, female, younger, homeless, having fewer comorbidities, and having received past addiction treatment were factors linked with follow-up and transition to addiction treatment following detoxification.

Patients hospitalized in community hospitals with opioid-related substance use disorders may require rapid inpatient detoxification to address withdrawal symptoms during hospitalization (Blanchard et al., 2021; Liebschutz et al., 2014). There are a variety of detoxification and rehabilitation methods available in both inpatient and outpatient settings. Depending on the medical complexity of the patient, detoxification, and rehabilitation in a community hospital are not necessarily superior to those in an outpatient setting (Schuckit, 2016). However, an acute hospitalization may provide an opportunity for providers to initiate treatment in patients who would not otherwise have contact with the medical system. Although an acute care hospitalization may present an intervention opportunity for patients with opioid use disorders, the majority of acute care opioid-related hospital admissions, particularly those related to short-term detoxification, are associated with inadequate or no inpatient rehabilitation programs (Blanchard et al., 2021; Velez et al., 2017).

Despite the rise in opioid-related hospitalizations since 2000, virtually little is known regarding the causes, rates, and predictors of readmission following hospitalization for opioid misuse and dependence on a national scale (Grzebinski & Dhamoon, 2021). The analysis of readmission rates permits comparisons, enhanced risk assessments, and evaluations of care quality. Existing research has examined trends in admissions for opiate misuse and dependence over the past several years in terms of mortality rates and other factors. Other studies have evaluated readmission rates for opioid misuse and dependency, however, none of these studies have examined a countrywide cohort of all patients, including non-post-operative cohorts, and investigated all probable reasons for readmission (Chan et al., 2004; Choi et al., 2011; Crispo et al., 2019; Gupta et al., 2018; McNeil et al., 2014; Moreno et al., 2019; Schranz et al., 2019). Cauley et al. (2017), Chen et al. (2018), and Cochran et al. (2014) have indicated common

comorbidities with opioid misuse and predictors of worse outcomes; however, data on predictors from non-survey national databases have not been collected. There are insufficient national data on the characteristics, rates, and causes of readmission following hospitalizations related to opioids (Grzebinski & Dhamoon, 2021). As indicated by the rising legislative emphasis on minimizing opioid-related prescription overdoses, dependence, and death, it is essential to better know the utilization and implications of opioid-related treatments during hospitalization (Blanchard et al., 2021).

Hospitalizations for overdose are also opportunities to intervene in the opioid epidemic by connecting patients to nonpharmacologic chronic pain treatment resources and substance abuse treatment services during and after hospitalization (Fanucchi & Lofwall, 2016; Liebschutz et al., 2014; Mosher et al., 2017). In order to inform planning and resource allocation for inpatient and post-discharge transitional care, it is essential to examine trends in the number of hospitalizations for opioid overdose in rural and urban areas (Mosher et al., 2017). It appears that nonmedical opioid use, opioid-related deaths, and opioid-related arrests are more prevalent in rural areas (Keyes et al., 2014; Rigg & Monnat, 2015). In addition, rural areas typically have less access to substance abuse treatment and chronic pain specialty services (Ellis et al., 2009; Rosenblatt et al., 2015). Increasing rural hospital closures have occurred concurrently with a rise in the use of opioids (Kaufman, 2016). This may exacerbate the impact of opioid-related hospitalizations on remaining rural hospitals and lead to an increased reliance on distant urban hospitals for the treatment and discharge of overdose patients. Residents from rural areas who are admitted or transferred to urban hospitals may face unique obstacles. Similarly, urban hospitals may struggle to link patients to substance abuse treatment services in unfamiliar rural communities during discharge planning (Mosher et al., 2017).

Health Insurance

The total cost of the opioid crisis, including direct, indirect, and lost productivity, has been rising dramatically. The total cost of OUD treatment increased from \$43.2 billion in 2009 to \$78.5 billion in 2013 to \$471 billion in 2017 (Sun et al., 2022). OUD has been shown to increase annual healthcare costs by \$14,810 compared to those without OUD, with hospitalization and rehabilitation accounting for a significant portion of this increase. Between 1994 and 2002, the cost of admissions increased by 482%. Readmissions further increase healthcare costs (Ghosh et al., 2022). A study conducted at the Massachusetts General Hospital by Moreno et al. (2019) found that nearly one-third of patients were readmitted within 90 days of their initial hospitalization. Policymakers are concerned about hospital readmission due to its high prevalence and economic and social costs. Nevertheless, identifying and managing readmission risk factors may improve the health and quality of care while reducing costs (Ghosh et al., 2022).

Medicaid covers nearly one-third of patients receiving treatment for substance use disorder (Leslie et al., 2019). Medicaid expenditures related to substance use disorders increased from 9% of total spending on substance use disorders in 1986 to 21% of total spending on substance use disorders in 2009. Medicaid accounted for 21% of the \$24 billion that health insurers spent treating substance use disorders in 2009, although this amounted to less than 1% of total Medicaid expenditures. Between 2011 and 2016, Medicaid expenditures on buprenorphine, naltrexone, and naloxone (medications that block the effects of opioids and are administered in overdose situations) increased by 136%, from \$394.2 million to \$929.9 million. In 2014, an estimated 14.6% of OUD patients received medication therapy. According to Leslie et al. (2019), Medicaid beneficiaries have a higher prevalence of mental and substance use disorders and are at a higher risk for OUD than the general population. Consequently, OUD has been shown to place a substantial financial burden on state Medicaid programs (Toseef et al., 2023).

Substance abuse treatment, which was segregated from general healthcare coverage, has remained largely underfunded (Datta et al., 2022). Treatment coverage has thus far been met largely through state funding or block grants from the federal government. Treatment for substance use remained outside any health insurance coverage - private or public - before the passage of the ACA (Affordable Care Act) Medicaid expansions, along with the essential health benefits (EHB) clause covering mental health and substance use, represent a significant shift from the past in expanding both access and coverage. The effects of the ACA's private health insurance and dependent coverage expansions on substance use disorder have been extensively studied. However, studies on the effects of Medicaid expansion on the treatment of opioid use disorder (OUD) are scarce and frequently based on preliminary data. Recent research, (Crispo et al., 2019; Maclean et al., 2019; Meinhofer & Witman, 2018; Neighbors et al., 2019; Sharp et al., 2018) has examined the influence of health insurance on medication-assisted treatment (MAT) for substance use disorders. The findings indicate that the number of Medicaid-reimbursed prescriptions for buprenorphine and naltrexone increased in states that expanded Medicaid, although most low-income adults continue to have limited access to affordable treatment in all states (Datta et al., 2022). The researcher will not include health insurance as a variable in this study.

Incarceration

Individuals with substance use disorders, apart from opioid-related disorders, exhibited a fivefold increase in the likelihood of being arrested and booked within the previous year

compared to those without any substance use disorders (Robertson, 2018). Moreover, individuals with prescription painkiller use disorders demonstrated a sevenfold increase in this likelihood. Conversely, individuals with heroin use disorders were found to be nineteen times more likely to experience arrest and booking, while those with both heroin and prescription painkiller use disorders exhibited a twenty-sixfold increase in this likelihood.

In the preceding year, a significant proportion of individuals diagnosed with heroin use disorders, as well as those with both prescription painkiller and heroin use disorders, had legal consequences, with over 50% being arrested and booked for criminal offenses. In contrast, only 17% of those with other substance use disorders saw such interaction with the criminal justice system. Therefore, it is imperative to implement interventions aimed at reducing the involvement of individuals with serious mental illness (SMI) in the criminal justice system. These efforts should encompass all individuals with substance use disorder, with particular emphasis on providing assistance to those with heroin use disorder as well as those with co-occurring heroin and prescription drug use disorders (Robertson, 2018). The United States has the highest incarceration rate globally, which has a negative impact on public health (Henry, 2020). Individuals who have previously been imprisoned face a heightened likelihood of experiencing fatal outcomes related to drug overdose, suicide, homicide, and cardiovascular disease. Individuals with mental health and substance use issues are disproportionately represented in the prison and jail systems of the United States. The prevalence of mental health illnesses among individuals detained in jails is as high as 60%, and only slightly lower for those incarcerated in state and federal prisons. Individuals with severe mental illness are disproportionately jailed in jails, with men comprising 15% and women comprising 31% of the incarcerated population.

Furthermore, close to 50% of those imprisoned in the United States exhibit serious substance abuse prior to their incarceration. Considering the fact that jailed individuals exhibit a significantly higher prevalence of mental health and substance use disorders, it is unsurprising that these disorders can also contribute to their imprisonment. Individuals suffering from mental health and/or substance use disorders are more prone to being apprehended by law enforcement. Recidivism has been found to be influenced by serious mental illness. Furthermore, a significant proportion of individuals detained in state prisons (33%) and federal prisons (22%) acknowledged drug use during the commission of their violation. Additionally, around 18% of incarcerated individuals committed their crimes with the intention of acquiring funds for drugrelated purposes. Substance use disorders can serve as a mediator in the connection between mental health illnesses and criminal behavior. An additional element that could be significant is the occurrence of traumatic or bad events. Adverse experiences have been shown to contribute to mental health issues, substance use disorders, and violence. Moreover, jailed individuals have a higher prevalence of exposure to unfavorable experiences compared to the general population. The relationship between unfavorable events, mental health issues, and substance use disorders likely contributes to a percentage of the imprisonment rate.

Housing Insecurity

The opioid epidemic disproportionately affects people experiencing homelessness (PEH) (McLaughlin et al., 2021). PEH are more likely than their housed counterparts to abuse opioids (Doran et al., 2018; Marshall et al., 2019) and overdose (Yamamoto et al., 2019). The COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated this overdose crisis, particularly among PEH (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020). PEH has witnessed an alarming doubling of the percentage of overdose deaths involving fentanyl. Similarly, drug-related overdose remained the leading cause

of death among PEH despite the COVID-19 pandemic and several documented severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-Cov-2) outbreaks that occurred early on in homeless shelters across the United States (Baggett et al., 2020; Tobolowsky et al., 2020). Similarly, homelessness increases the risk of physical and mental health conditions (Haider et al., 2020; Hser et al., 2015). However, PEH frequently faces multiple obstacles that prevent them from receiving effective care. Personal barriers like competing priorities, trauma, and medical comorbidities, practical barriers like transportation and medication security, and structural barriers like stigma, mistrust of medical institutions, and lack of health insurance coverage all contribute to poor access to ambulatory care by PEH (Davies and Wood, 2018) and the persistence of unmet health needs (Baggett et al., 2010; Kushel et al., 2006). As a result, individuals with PEH may delay seeking care and overuse acute healthcare (Davies and Wood, 2018; Kushel et al., 2006; Lin et al., 2015).

Clients with opioid use disorders are particularly vulnerable due to concurrent high levels of housing insecurity, food insecurity, and lack of primary care (London & Kory, 2020). These patients frequently visit the emergency room for medical and non-medical issues (Rose-Jacobs et al., 2019). However, financial, and time-related priorities for food and housing access may impede medical care, which is especially detrimental for pregnant women in OUD treatment (Rose-Jacobs et al., 2019). Seventy to eighty percent of pregnant women with OUD report a history of physical or sexual abuse, as well as exposure to trauma and violence. Among pregnant women with OUD, co-occurring psychiatric disorders are highly prevalent (25%–73%), with women frequently having more than one comorbid psychiatric diagnosis, including depression, anxiety, and posttraumatic stress disorder. This population also suffers from extreme housing and food insecurity, with over 60% reporting homelessness and food insecurity, and 80% having

public insurance as an indicator of poverty (Rose-Jacobs et al., 2019). According to Feder et al. (2018), Huhn and Dunn (2020), and Martin et al. (2020), women experience greater health and social vulnerabilities than men, which contributes to gender-based disparities in access to substance abuse treatment programs. In comparison to men, women earn 70 cents on the dollar and are more likely to work part-time due to childcare or other family obligations (Gharehgozli & Atal, 2020). Single female-headed households comprise the largest proportion of families living below the poverty line and are more dependent on social programs such as Medicaid and Social Security Income (Foster & Rojas, 2018; Gharehgozli & Atal, 2020; Semega et al., 2020). Although women comprise a smaller proportion of homeless individuals, they are more likely to be in poorer physical and mental health than men who are homeless. In addition, women may experience housing insecurity in more covert ways, such as living with friends or family, exchanging sex for housing, or staying in hotels (Spector et al., 2021).

For people of color and other marginalized communities, drug use is exacerbated by the social determinants of health characterized by poverty, housing instability, and a higher likelihood of incarceration, all of which contribute to reduced access to high-quality healthcare (Nordeck et al., 2021). According to Velasquez et al. (2019), previous studies have identified several factors that likely contribute to opioid and other drug and alcohol use after jail, including poverty, income from drug sales, limited family and social support for opioid and other drug and alcohol abstinence or moderation, inadequate access to mental and physical health care, and unstable housing or homelessness.

Given the substantial overlap between mental illness and substance use disorders, cooccurring diagnoses may be a risk factor for early treatment termination (Hooker et al., 2020).

The research evidence, however, is inconsistent; some studies have found no correlation between mental health and substance use disorders and treatment retention (Neumann et al., 2013). In contrast, some researchers have found that a mental health diagnosis is associated with a greater likelihood of treatment retention (Weinstein et al., 2017) whereas others have found that psychiatric comorbidity and comorbid substance use are associated with treatment noncompliance (Fareed et al., 2014). Social determinants of health, such as employment and housing status, income level, and access to healthy food and reliable transportation, may also influence treatment retention. These psychosocial needs are essential to the health and functioning of patients, particularly those with OUD. 60% to 70% of clients with OUD are unemployed, and 60% earn less than \$10,000 annually (Ober et al., 2018). Between 25% and 30% of clients receiving medications for opioid use disorder (MOUD) report homelessness and/or housing instability, factors that decrease the likelihood of treatment-seeking (Li; Ober et al., 2018; Simon et al., 2017). These statistics are especially worrisome because patients with unmet psychosocial needs may have trouble adhering to treatment; however, this has not yet been thoroughly investigated in clients with OUD receiving treatment in primary care settings (Hooker et al., 2020).

CHAPTER III

METHODOLOGY

This section will describe in detail how the current study will be conceptualized and carried out. The criteria for participant selection are discussed, followed by a detailed explanation of the methods that will be utilized in this study. In addition to the components, the instrumentation and psychometric properties of the components are also covered. This section will conclude with a discussion of the rationale and identification of the independent and dependent variables included in the study, as well as the research design.

The following research questions and hypotheses are to be explored in this study.

6. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict overdosing hospitalization?

H₀ 1: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict overdosing hospitalization.

H_a 1: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict overdosing hospitalization.

7. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict being hospitalized for mental illness reasons?

 H_0 2: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict being hospitalized for mental illness reasons.

H_a 2: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict being hospitalized for mental illness reasons.

8. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict self-esteem?

 H_0 3: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict self-esteem.

 H_a 3: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnosis, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict self-esteem.

9. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict resilience?

 H_0 4: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict resilience.

H_a 4: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict resilience.

10. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict life satisfaction?

H₀ 5: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict life satisfaction.

H_a **5**: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict life satisfaction.

Participants

Participants will be recruited from substance abuse facilities in the U.S. using a systematic random sample. Criteria for inclusion in the current study include participants being 18 years or older, having an opioid use disorder, having one or more mental health disorders, and being currently and/or were formerly enrolled at a substance abuse treatment center. The recommended sample size for logistic regression is fifty participants per independent variable; however, for smaller studies such as this current one, a smaller sample size with 20 participants per independent variable is sufficient when evaluating which variables aren't highly related (Bujang et al., 2018). Utilizing the Gpower Analysis, with a moderate effect size ($R^2 = 0.15$) a power of 0.95 and $\alpha = 0.05$, and 3 predictors, the required sample size was 89 subjects. However, to strengthen and ensure that the data is statistically significant, the researcher will be utilizing 601 participants.

Procedure

After receiving approval from the Internal Review Board (IRB) at the University of Texas Rio Grande Valley, approximately 601 participants that are 18 years or older, with an OUD, having one or more medically diagnosed mental health disorders, currently and/or were formerly enrolled at a substance abuse treatment center was recruited using stratified sampling. The researcher recruited participants using a digital flyer.

The objective of the digital flyer was to promote the study and to provide participants with access to the survey. Before emailing the flyer to agency directors, the researcher sent out a letter of invitation outlining the purpose of the study as well as its risks, benefits, and eligibility requirements, requesting permission to use their agency to recruit participants. Additionally, the flyer was shared on social media platforms including Instagram, Snapchat, and Facebook. The informed consent was incorporated into the survey, and completion of the survey served as confirmation of informed consent. Recruitment via social media platforms provided the researcher with access to a wide range of individuals with OUD with one or more medically diagnosed mental health disorders and reached a broader audience geographically. Participants were able to scan a QR code or directly copy and paste the Qualtrics link into their web browser to access the survey. Before beginning the survey, participants were required to acknowledge the informed consent. The informed consent included a summary of the study, its risks, benefits, and eligibility requirements.

Using Qualtrics, surveys and information regarding informed consent and incentive raffles were administered. After the initial contact with potential participants, a single reminder to complete the survey were emailed after two weeks if the researcher had not obtained enough participants. As an incentive, each participant who successfully completes the survey had the opportunity to submit an email address for the raffle at the end of the survey. The winner was contacted via email and sent a digital \$25 Target gift card to be used at his/her leisure. Since the data collection has been successfully completed, the results were analyzed using Qualtrics to

IBM SPSS Version 27. Participant responses were saved to an encrypted USB drive and stored in a locked filing cabinet.

Instrumentation

Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS). The Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS) was developed to assess satisfaction with the respondent's life as a whole (Pavot & Diener, 2008). The authors initiated the development of the SWLS by generating a pool of 48 items designed to measure life satisfaction and well-being. Using factor analysis, 10 items with high loadings (0.60 or above) on a common factor interpreted as global evaluations of a person's life were identified from the original pool of items. This group of items was reduced to five items after redundancies were eliminated, with minimal impact on the alpha reliability of the scale.

The use of a 7-point Likert-style response scale provided respondents with a variety of response options. The five items are all scored in a positive direction, so the total score for the scale can be calculated by adding the five responses (Pavot & Diener, 2008). Questions are presented as follows: "The conditions of my life are excellent." and "I am satisfied with my life." The range of possible scores is therefore between 5 and 35, with 20 representing the neutral point on the scale. Scores between 5 and 9 indicate extreme dissatisfaction with life, whereas scores between 31 and 35 indicate extreme satisfaction with life. Scores between 21 and 25 indicate moderate satisfaction, while scores between 15 and 19 indicate moderate dissatisfaction. Other, more specific assessments, such as those for elementary school students, have been The Journal of Positive Psychology 141 developed for specific populations, such as the elderly. Subsequent research provided additional psychometric data on the SWLS after its initial development. In six

studies, the coefficient alpha for the SWLS ranged from 0.79 to 0.89, indicating the scale's high internal consistency (Pavot & Diener, 2008).

The Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC). The CD-RISC was developed with the following objectives in mind: to develop a valid and reliable measure of resilience, to establish reference values for resilience in the general population and in clinical samples, and to assess the modifiability of resilience in response to pharmacologic treatment in a clinical population (Connor & Davidson, 2003). The CD-RISC contains 25 items, each with a five-point Likert scale response scale: never true (0), rarely true (1), sometimes true (2), frequently true (3), and nearly always true (4). Questions are presented as follows: The rating on the scale is based on the subject's mood over the past month. The total score ranges from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating higher levels of resilience (Connor & Davidson, 2003). With a Cronbach's α of 0.93, there is a high degree of internal consistency (Kuiper et al., 2019).

Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSE). The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale is a self-esteem measurement instrument (Rosenberg, 1965). Originally, the instrument was intended to measure high school students' self-esteem. The scale has also been used with numerous groups, including adults, and norms are available for a number of these groups. Questions are presented as follows: "On the whole, I am satisfied with myself." and "At times I think I am no good at all." It is believed that this 10-item scale that measures global self-worth by measuring both positive and negative feelings about the self is unidimensional. All questions utilize a four-point Likert scale ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree.

The RSE is a Guttman scale, so scoring can be somewhat complex. Scoring is based on a system of combined ratings (Rosenberg, 1965). The sum of item ratings yields a total score

ranging from 10 to 40; higher scores indicate higher self-esteem. The RSE's coefficient of reproducibility on the Guttman scale is 0.92, indicating excellent internal consistency. Two-week test-retest reliability reveals correlations between 0.85 and 0.88, indicating excellent stability. In addition, using known groups, the RSE scale demonstrates concurrent, predictive, and construct validity. Significant correlations exist between the RSE and other self-esteem measures, including the Coopersmith Self-Esteem Inventory. Additionally, the RSE correlates in the expected direction with depression and anxiety measures (Rosenberg, 1965). Cronbach's values for the English version were 0.88 and those for the Korean version were 0.79 (Campbell-Sills & Stein, 2007).

Variable Selection and Data Analysis

This study includes five predictor/ dependent criterion variables (DV) identified as life satisfaction, resilience, self-esteem, past psychiatric hospitalizations, and past overdose hospitalizations. Life satisfaction, resilience, and self-esteem are classified as interval data. These scales were meticulously measured and tabulated. Past psychiatric hospitalizations and past overdose hospitalizations are classified as metric data. The three independent variables (IV) are multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity. Two out of the three independent variables were dichotomously categorized as multiple mental health disorder diagnoses (Yes/No), and housing insecurity (Yes/No) which are classified as nominal data. Incarceration status is classified as metric data. Other demographic variables, such as age, race, gender, and reasons for using opioids, were utilized by the researcher to investigate frequencies and descriptive statistics, which are nominal data. Age was used as a continuous variable whereas race had different categories such as White/Caucasian, Hispanic/Latino, Black/African American, Native American/American Indian, Asian/Pacific Islander, and Other. The variable gender was dichotomously categorized as (female/male) whereas the variable, reason for turning to opioids was categorized as injury/chronic pain, dealing with poverty, unemployment, stress, family history of substance abuse, history of severe depression/anxiety, undertaking risk-taking or thrill-seeking behavior, peer pressure, and other. Moreover, each of the three scales used in this study met the psychometric properties for testing reliability and validity. Analyses for this study were conducted using the IBM Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 27.

Next, preceding statistical analyses, the following general assumptions for multiple linear regression will be evaluated (a) normality, (b) absence of multicollinearity, (c) homoscedasticity, and (d) linearity for each of the major study variables. Furthermore, to avoid violation of normality, the data was assessed using a goodness of fit test such as the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The homoscedasticity of the data was assessed using Levene's test for equality of variances. Moreover, for each given predictor, multicollinearity was assessed by computing the variance inflation factors (VIFs) to be within acceptable ranges (Yoo et al., 2014). The linearity of data was assessed using inverse transformation (Rovai et al., 2013).

Descriptive analysis was conducted to assess the demographic variables such as age, race, gender, reasons for using opioids, multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity. Five multiple linear regressions were conducted for the purpose of this study to examine the demographic factors, such as mental disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity, that predict an increased risk of psychological issues such as life
satisfaction, resilience, self-esteem, and personal characteristics such as past psychiatric hospitalizations and past overdose hospitalizations.

Summary

As previously discussed, a brief review of the problem, research questions, and corresponding hypotheses were included. As such, participant selection, relevant demographics, and procedures for the study were outlined and defined. Instruments were described with accompanying validity and reliability figures to provide support for use in the current study. Finally, independent, and dependent variables were discussed and defined as well as statistical procedures used to answer each research question.

CHAPTER IV

DATA ANALYSIS AND RESULTS

The following section will consist of the analysis of data collected for this study as well as sample composition. The findings gathered from demographic data, and the inferential statistical analyses are presented in response to the research questions and corresponding hypotheses outlined in chapters one and three. As a reminder, the purpose of this study was to examine the factors that predict whether an increased risk of psychological issues such as life satisfaction, a lower threshold for resilience, and low self-esteem, as well as personal characteristics such as multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, past overdose hospitalizations, past psychiatric hospitalizations, housing insecurity, and incarceration status, can decrease the likelihood of recovery. A quantitative non-experimental survey-based design was used for this study. Five multiple linear regression models were implemented with the Satisfaction with Life Scale scores, Rosenburg Self-Esteem Scale scores, Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale scores, past psychiatric hospitalizations, and past overdose hospitalizations as predictors. The following are the research questions and their respective hypotheses for this research study:

11. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict overdosing hospitalization?

H₀ 1: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses,

incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict overdosing hospitalization.

H_a 1: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict overdosing hospitalization.

12. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict being hospitalized for mental illness reasons?

H₀ 2: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict being hospitalized for mental illness reasons.

H_a 2: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict being hospitalized for mental illness reasons.

13. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict self-esteem?

 $H_0 3$: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict self-esteem.

 H_a 3: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnosis, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict self-esteem.

14. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict resilience?

H₀ 4: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict resilience.

 H_a 4: Demographic factors (multiple mental disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict resilience.

15. To what extent do demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) predict life satisfaction?

 H_0 5: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do not predict life satisfaction.

H_a **5**: Demographic factors (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) do predict life satisfaction.

Sample Composition and Demographics

After IRB approval was granted from the University of Texas Rio Grande Valley, participants were recruited for a period of eight weeks through various social media platforms including Facebook, Instagram, and Snapchat. Digital flyers were posted in substance abuse/mental health support groups/online forums. A total of 1596 responses were received after the two-month period. After discarding incomplete surveys, the total sample size was reduced to 1216 participants for analysis. Thus, the final sample size for this study was n = 601 participants. The recommended sample size for logistic regression is fifty participants per independent variable, however for smaller studies such as the current one, a smaller sample size with 20

participants per independent variable is sufficient when evaluating which variables are highly related (Bujang et al., 2018). The final sample consisted of men and women aged 18 years or older with an OUD and one or more mental illness(es). Women represented 43.9% of the sample while men accounted for the remaining 56.1%. In terms of race, the sample was composed of Black/African Americans (2.0%), White/Caucasians (90.7%), Asian/Pacific Islanders (9.7%), Hispanics/Latinos (4.0%), Native/American Indians (2.8%), and Other (.2%) in Table 1.

Table 2

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Gender					
	Male	337	56.1	56.1	56.1
	Female	264	43.9	43.9	100.0
Race					
	White/Caucasian	545	90.7	90.7	90.7
	Other	1	.2	.2	90.8
	Native	17	2.8	2.8	93.7
	American/American Indian				
	Hispanic/Latino	24	4.0	4.0	97.7
	Black/African American	12	2.0	2.0	99.7
	Asian/Pacific Islander	2	.3	.3	100.0

Frequencies of Participant's Demographics (Gender and Race)

The participants were requested to provide their precise ages. As shown in Table 3, the average age was 27.10 (SD = 5.380).

Table 3

	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Age	601	18	55	27.10	5.380
Valid N (listwise)	601				

Descriptive Statistics of Participant's Age

The presence of multiple mental health disorder diagnoses was categorized into two groups, namely "yes" and "no." The data revealed that 87.5% of individuals exhibited multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, whereas 12.5% did not, as shown in Table 4. The participants were instructed to indicate their response regarding housing insecurity by choosing either "no" or "yes." The subsequent figures represent the proportions of individuals experiencing housing insecurity, with 88.0% indicating affirmative responses and 12.0% indicating negative responses, as shown in Table 5. Reasons for turning to opioids, as shown in Table 6, were categorized into nine categories which included unemployment, undertook risk taking-or thrill-seeking behavior, stress, peer pressure, injury/chronic pain, history of severe depression/anxiety, family history of substance abuse, dealing with poverty, and other. The percentages for each category of Reasons for Turning to Opioids are as follows: 1 (13.1%), 2 (8.2%), 3 (15.0%), 4 (7.2%), 5 (16.0%), 6 (18.3%), 7 (11.0%), 8 (11.1%), and 9 (.2%).

Table 4

Frequencies of Multiple Mental Health Disorder Diagnoses

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Multiple	No	75	12.5	12.5	12.5
MD Dx	Yes	526	87.5	87.5	100.0
	Total	601	100.0	100.0	

Note. MD=Mental Disorder, Dx=Diagnoses

Table 5

Frequencies of Housing Insecurity

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Housing Insecurity	Yes	529	88.0	88.0	88.0
5	No	72	12.0	12.0	100.0
	Total	601	100.0	100.0	

Table 6

Frequencies of Reasons for Turning into Opioids

_		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Reasons	unemployment	79	13.1	13.1	13.1
for Turning	undertook risk-taking or thrill- seeking behavior	49	8.2	8.2	21.3
	stress	90	15.0	15.0	36.3

Table 6 con	t.				
into	peer pressure	43	7.2	7.2	43.4
Opioids	other	1	.2	.2	43.6
	injury/chronic pain	96	16.0	16.0	59.6
	history of severe depression/anxiety	110	18.3	18.3	77.9
	family history of substance abuse	66	11.0	11.0	88.9
	dealing with poverty	67	11.1	11.1	100.0
	Total	601	100.0	100.0	

Participants were asked to input the number of times they had been incarcerated. The following is the percentage breakdown as shown in Table 7: 0 (28.3%), 1(28.1%), 2(22.5%), 3 (9.2%), 4(8.7%) 5 (1.3%), 6 (1.0%) 7(.7%), 8(.2%), and 9(.2%). The average of participants that have been incarcerated was 1.55 (SD = 1.497).

Table 7

					Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	0	170	28.3	28.3	28.3
	1	169	28.1	28.1	56.4
	2	135	22.5	22.5	78.9
	3	55	9.2	9.2	88.0
	4	52	8.7	8.7	96.7
	5	8	1.3	1.3	98.0
	6	6	1.0	1.0	99.0
	7	4	.7	.7	99.7
	8	1	.2	.2	99.8
	9	1	.2	.2	100.0
	Total	601	100.0	100.0	

Frequencies of Participant's Incarceration Status

Assumptions

Prior to performing any analyses, the assumptions for multiple linear regressions including linearity, homoscedasticity, normality of distribution, and multicollinearity were separately assessed. The following includes further explanation of each tested assumption including results. Linearity is established when the criterion variable has a linear relationship with the predictor variables (Field, 2013). The linear relationship was established by visual examination of each partial regression scatterplot for the five multiple linear regression models (RQ1, RQ2, RQ3, RQ4, and RQ5). Furthermore, continuous predictor variables indicated a linear relationship in the regression scatterplot for the overall self-esteem score model upon visual examination.

Normality of distribution of scores was tested by visually examining the histogram and *p-p* plots for each multiple linear regression model. Doane and Seward (2011) propose that the assessment of normality can be conducted by the utilization of two quantitative indicators of shape, namely skewness and kurtosis. When the skewness value exhibits a significant deviation from zero, it indicates that the dataset does not adhere to a normal distribution. Regarding kurtosis, the value of a standard normal distribution is approximately three (Doane & Seward, 2011). All five histograms indicated a robust correlation to the theoretical quartiles. All *p-p* plots indicated a strong tendency of the data towards a center line. All models had a normal distribution, apart from the two dependent variables, psychiatric hospitalizations and past overdose hospitalizations. Both dependent variables exhibited asymmetrical skewness, suggesting that they did not follow a normal distribution. Scatterplots for each multiple linear

regression model were used to examine the random distribution of data, satisfying the assumption of homoscedasticity of homogenous distribution across the predictor variables (Field, 2013). Finally, no outliers in the continuous predictor variables that could have affected the results were identified. Nonetheless, there were outliers within the dependent variables of psychiatric hospitalizations and past overdose hospitalizations. Multicollinearity implies that there is a strong correlation between two or more independent variables (Field, 2013). VIF was used to assess multicollinearity. A VIF value greater than 5 would be a cause for concern, while a VIF of 10 should be the maximum (Field, 2013). All VIF values in this research were below 1.186, which indicates no concern for collinearity.

When testing the assumptions for dependent variables, psychiatric hospitalizations and past overdose hospitalizations, it resulted in the normality of distribution being violated. The researcher has opted to exclude research questions one and two from the study. The rationale for this decision is grounded in the presence of a non-normal distribution and the identification of outliers in both dependent variables, past psychiatric hospitalizations, and past overdose hospitalizations.

The null hypotheses for the present study were tested with F distribution with an alpha/level of statistical significance that is one-half of the reporting alpha/level. That is, the null hypotheses in the present study were tested with an alpha level of .05 level (Box, 1953). In addition, F distributions are robust, that is, F distributions are virtually insensitive to departures from the assumptions of normal of distribution and homogeneity of variance in terms of the risk of commenting a Type I or alpha error (Box, 1953).

Inferential Statistics

This next section consists of data analyses for the three research questions (RQ3, RQ4, and RQ5). The analyses and respective interpretations of the findings followed the order in which they were introduced in the study. In order to address each research question and its corresponding hypothesis, it was imperative to perform a separate multiple linear regression model for each research question to examine if the independent variables (multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration status) predict the dependent variables (self-esteem, resilience, and life satisfaction). The first model examined self-esteem. The first regression model analyzed the overall self-esteem scores, while the second and third models analyzed overall resilience scores and overall life satisfaction scores.

Self-Esteem

To examine research question 3, a multiple linear regression analysis was conducted to evaluate if the predictor variables of multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration status individually or in linear combination, predicted self-esteem. The obtained multiple linear regression coefficients between self-esteem (Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale) and the independent variable/demographic factors (i.e., multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) yielded a collective not significant effect (R=.065, F (3, 597) = .852, p > .01). Additionally, the model summary also provided an R^2 value of .004, indicating that more than 0.04% of self-esteem was predicted by this model, while less than 99.6% comes from other factors. The predictor variables in the

standardized regression coefficient/beta coefficients indicated that having multiple mental health disorder diagnoses is -.022 (t = -.504, p >.01), housing insecurity is -.065 (t = -1.520, p >.01), and incarceration status is .008 (t = .183, p > .01) were insignificant determinants of self-esteem. The data for the first model is shown in Table 8. In the present study, the null hypotheses for the multiple linear regression analysis were tested with the *F* distribution at the .05 level of significance.

Table 8

Predictor Variables	beta	t	р	
Multiple Mental Disorder	022	504	.614	
Dx's	065	1.520	120	
Housing insecurity	065	-1.520	.129	
Incarceration status	.008	.183	.855	
Note. Dx=Diagnoses				

The Effect of Predictor Variables on Self-Esteem

In conclusion, the analyses confirm predictor variables such as multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration status do not impact overall selfesteem. Therefore, the null hypothesis for research question three is not rejected validating that multiple mental disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity do not predict self-esteem.

Resilience

To examine research question 4, a multiple linear regression analysis was conducted to evaluate if the predictor variables of multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration status individually or in linear combination, predicted resilience. The obtained multiple linear regression coefficients between resilience (Connor-Davidson Resilience Scale) and the independent variable/demographic factors (i.e., multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity) yielded a collective significant effect (R=.189, F(3, 597) = 7.385, p < .01). Additionally, the model summary also provided an R^2 value of .036, indicating that more than 3.6% of resilience was predicted by this model, while less than 96.4% comes from other factors. Specifically, the predictor variables in the standardized regression coefficient/beta coefficients indicated that having multiple mental health disorder diagnoses is -.127 (t = -2.933, p < .01) and incarceration status is .189 (t = 4.312, p < .01) were significant determinants of resilience. However, housing insecurity is not a significant predictor of resilience. The data for the second model is shown in Table 9. In the present study, the null hypotheses for the multiple linear regression analysis were tested with the F distribution at the .05 level of significance.

Table 9

55	5			
Predictor Variables	beta	t	р	
Multiple Mental Disorder	127	-2.933	.003	
Dx's				
Housing Insecurity	018	424	.671	
Incarceration status	.189	4.312	.000	
Note. Dx=Diagnoses				

The Effect of Predictor Variables on Resilience

In conclusion, the analyses confirm predictor variables such as multiple mental disorder diagnoses and incarceration status only impact overall resilience. Therefore, the null hypothesis for research question four is rejected validating that multiple mental health disorder diagnoses and incarceration status do predict resilience.

Life Satisfaction

To examine research question 5, a multiple linear regression analysis was conducted to evaluate if the predictor variables of multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration status individually or in linear combination, predicted life satisfaction. The obtained multiple linear regression coefficients between life satisfaction (Satisfaction With Life Scale) and the independent variable/demographic factors (i.e., multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration) yielded a collective significant effect (R=.196, F(3, 597) = 7.973, p < .01). Additionally, the model summary also provided an R^2 value of .039, indicating that more than 3.9% of life satisfaction was predicted by this model, while less than 96.1% comes from other factors. Specifically, the predictor variables in the standardized regression coefficient/beta coefficients indicated that having multiple mental health disorder diagnoses is -.116 (t = -2.671, p < .01) and housing insecurity is -.179 (t = -4.267, p < .01) were significant determinants of life satisfaction. However, incarceration status was not a significant predictor of life satisfaction. The data for the third model is shown in Table 10. In the present study, the null hypotheses for the multiple linear regression analysis were tested with the *F* distribution at the .05 level of significance.

<i>55 5</i>	5	0 0		
Predictor Variables	beta	t	р	
Multiple Mental Disorder	116	-2.671	.008	
Dx's				
Housing Insecurity	179	-4.267	.001	
Incarceration status	.043	.993	.321	
Note. Dx=Diagnoses				

The Effect of Predictor Variables on Life Satisfaction

In conclusion, the analyses confirm predictor variables such as multiple mental health disorder diagnoses and housing insecurity do impact overall life satisfaction. Therefore, the null hypothesis for research question five is rejected validating that multiple mental health disorder diagnoses and housing insecurity do predict life satisfaction.

Summary

The data analysis and results presented in this chapter were in response to the research questions and supporting hypotheses posed in the previous chapters. The independent variables including multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity were hypothesized to have some degree of influence on overall resilience and life satisfaction. The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSE) takes a measure of one's general feelings (Rosenberg, 1965), the Connor-Davidson Scale (CD-RISC) measures resilience or how well one is equipped to bounce back after stressful events, tragedy, or trauma (Connor & Davidson, 2003), while the Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS) was developed to assess satisfaction with the respondent's life as a whole (Pavot & Diener, 2008). Briefly, the findings indicate that specific independent variables/demographics influence resilience on self-esteem.

Next, chapter five will consist of a detailed explanation of all findings yielded from the current study in addition to the limitations. The findings will be compared and contrasted against previous studies completed on this subject matter. Finally, implications for rehabilitation educators, rehabilitation counselors, students, and disability advocates will be addressed.

CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

This section provides a rationale and overview of the current study. It also includes the conclusions drawn from the results and relevant comparisons from previous studies within the same subject matter. Further, implications for rehabilitation professionals, students, educators, and future studies are presented and addressed. Finally, limitations are discussed for generalization and future utilization purposes.

Rationale

There has been a significant increase in Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) cases in the United States, contributing to what is commonly referred to as the opioid epidemic (Fromson, 2023). Over 10 million Americans aged 12 or older were estimated to have abused opioids in the previous year in 2021 (Fromson, 2023). The origins of the epidemic can be traced back to the late 1990s, when prescription opioids became broadly accessible. This overprescribing, in conjunction with the proliferation of illicit opioids such as heroin and synthetic opioids such as fentanyl, has contributed to the crisis. The health consequences of substance abuse are devastating. It may cause respiratory distress, infections, constipation, and hormonal imbalances. On a psychological level, OUD patients frequently experience depression, anxiety, and cognitive impairments. It can strain relationships, disrupt employment, and lead to illicit activity. The most alarming aspect associated with OUD is the mortality rate. Opioid overdose fatalities have increased dramatically, with a significant portion attributable to potent synthetic opioids such as fentanyl. In the United States, opioid overdoses cause tens of thousands of deaths annually, making them the primary preventable cause of death (Fromson, 2023). Moreover, despite a higher risk of addiction and overdose, people who have been diagnosed with mental disorders are more likely to receive opioid prescriptions (National Institute of Health, 2022).

Individuals who experience both co-occurring opioid use disorder (OUD) and mental illness are prone to persist in the use of nonprescription opioids, face an increased risk of chronic and acute medical conditions, and encounter elevated risks of accidental and deliberate overdose, thus contributing to the escalation of opioid-related death rates. More recently, substance use disorder, particularly OUD, is now recognized as a chronic ailment influenced by psychological factors that necessitate a comprehensive treatment strategy. However, the existing care system exhibits significant fragmentation, hindering the recovery process for this vulnerable population (Bakos-Block et al., 2020). These alarming statistics lead to the research and subsequent findings conducted in the present study.

Limited research exists on the comorbidity of OUD and comorbid mental health disorders, specifically pertaining to the management of psychological issues that may impede the recovery process. Individuals with comorbid mental health disorders and opioid use disorders who have experienced a greater prevalence of past overdose hospitalizations, past psychiatric hospitalizations, housing insecurity, incarceration, and psychological issues (life satisfaction,

lower threshold for resilience, and low self-esteem) may have a much lower chance of recovering than those without a serious mental health disorder alone.

Presentation of Findings

The present study aimed to examine the demographic factors, such as a multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity, that predict an increased risk of psychological issues such as life satisfaction, resilience, self-esteem, and personal characteristics such as past psychiatric hospitalizations and past overdose hospitalizations. The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSE) takes a measure of one's general feelings (Rosenberg, 1965), the Connor-Davidson Scale (CD-RISC) measures resilience or how well one is equipped to bounce back after stressful events, tragedy, or trauma (Connor & Davidson, 2003), while the Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS) was developed to assess satisfaction with the respondent's life as a whole (Pavot & Diener, 2008).

In this study, self-esteem did not have a significant effect on multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration status. Although having multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration status were not affected by self-esteem in this study, there is evidence that self-esteem can lead to better health and social behavior and that low self-esteem is associated with a wide range of mental disorders and social problems, both internalizing and externalizing problems (such as depression, suicidal tendencies, eating disorders, and anxiety) (Mann et al., 2004). Even though self-esteem did not impact having multiple mental health disorders diagnoses, it is important to recognize that self-esteem plays a causal role in many important life outcomes. In the 1970s, results emerged linking self-esteem to

a variety of social problems, including substance abuse, unemployment, and academic underachievement (Trzesniewski et al., 2013). As a result, widespread interest in self-esteem grew. Many consider self-esteem to be a fundamental human need. Consistent with this view, individuals demonstrate a distinct preference for high self-esteem under most circumstances and, when given a choice, even prefer self-esteem boosts over other enjoyable activities (Trzesniewski et al., 2013).

The next hypothesis in this study was whether or not multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration status predict resilience. Specifically, multiple mental health disorder diagnoses and incarceration status were significant for resilience. Life adversities such as chronic illness, disability, and mental health issues are a normal part of human existence; however, resilience is what makes the difference in overcoming obstacles or experiencing traumatic events. According to Sygit-Kowalkowska et al. (2017), solitary confinement is undoubtedly a traumatic experience in which resilience can play a role in the process of overcoming the negative impact of this circumstance. Other findings suggest that imprisonment is believed to be perceived as unpleasant, and incarceration as a major life event has also been linked to illnesses associated with stress (Sandvik et al., 2015). When confronted with a crisis, it might be challenging to envision in the present moment that the ordeal would ultimately result in personal development. Resilience refers to an individual's capacity to recover from difficult circumstances and develop as a result of the experience. Recent studies indicate that previous encounters with adversity can enhance one's ability to endure present stressors. In a study conducted by Mark Seery and his colleagues (2010), a cohort of over 2,300 individuals were surveyed regarding their lifetime exposure to a series of adverse occurrences, which were categorized into seven distinct groups. The findings revealed that individuals who had a

moderate degree of hardship exhibited superior mental health, well-being, and life satisfaction over time, in contrast to both those who had a significant background of adversity and those who had no prior experience of adversity.

The final hypothesis in this study was whether or not multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, housing insecurity, and incarceration status predict life satisfaction. Multiple mental health disorder diagnoses and housing insecurity were found to be significant for life satisfaction. Higher life satisfaction is associated with a longer life expectancy, greater disease tolerance, and fewer mental disorders (Kim et al., 2023). Substance abuse and mental health disorders are less prevalent among individuals with high life satisfaction. Life satisfaction has also been linked as a diagnostic instrument for SUD treatment. As a result, investigating the potential mechanisms that increase life satisfaction among SUD patients is essential for reducing physical and psychological distress and promoting SUD rehabilitation processes (Kim et al., 2023).

Housing insecurity is associated with adverse health outcomes and harmful behaviors (Cobb-Clark & Kettlewell, 2021). Cobb-Clark and Kettlewell (2021) found that people's personal resources matter as much, or more, than their demographic characteristics and family background combined in driving the impact that housing vulnerability has on their diminished mental well-being. In a study of housing quality, Evans, Kantrowitz, and Eshelman (2002) show that higher-quality housing leads to greater attachment to a home and hence higher well-being (Elkins et al., 2020). Moreover, current studies have demonstrated that individuals struggling with mental health illnesses often have a heightened sense of life satisfaction if their living circumstances are favorable/livable. For instance, Kellett et al. (2021) evaluated the quality of life and life satisfaction of 1,566 individuals with various physical, cognitive, and affective

disabilities transitioning from an institution to community living situations at six, twelve, and twenty-four-month intervals. The authors discovered that the longer these individuals with disabilities were integrated into the larger community, the greater their reported life satisfaction and quality of life. Conversely, the authors found that those participants who reported difficulties with healthcare coverage, inadequate transportation options, a lower income, and inadequate assistive technology assistance were more dissatisfied with their lives despite living in the community. However, when community resources and assistance were available, participants reported greater life satisfaction and quality of life. As such, environmental factors such as independent and secure housing for persons with mental health and/or substance issues can make a distinct difference in life satisfaction in and of themselves.

Relatedly, this interwoven interconnectedness between an individual and their environmental circumstances (i.e., housing status, food sufficiency, perceived community support) has a direct impact on an individual's mental and emotional health as well as their physical well-being. For example, substance use disorder is one of the significant contextual factors that can contribute to a broad variety of differences in a person's biological homeostasis, psychological states, relational and social boundaries, occupational performance, and cultural beliefs (Yang et al., 2020). Moreover, individuals with mental health disorders have significant difficulty meeting basic needs and paying utility bills; they frequently experience food and housing insecurity; and they are frequently over-indebted. Financial hardship can have negative effects on subjective well-being, life satisfaction, and mental health, making the high prevalence of financial hardship among those with mental health diagnoses particularly essential. In addition to addressing tangible physiological requirements, housing plays a crucial role in fulfilling an individual's psychological well-being by fostering a sense of inclusion and enhancing their

general well-being (Jiménez-Solomon et al., 2020). Consequently, possessing a stable and consistent place of residence is deemed an essential fundamental necessity (Elkins et al., 2020).

The psychological impact of negative societal attitudes toward individuals with cognitive disabilities found by Yang et al. (2020) were shame, embarrassment, loneliness, social isolation, low self-esteem, and feelings of being unworthy of affection. DiTomasso and Spinner (1997) discovered a similar psychological impact with their participants with disabilities who experienced negative attitudes from others and reported greater feelings of loneliness, anxiety, social isolation, and poor development of social skills. Similar emotions and behaviors were reported the following year by Li and Moore (1998) in their assessment of over 1,200 participants surveyed. This consistent body of research appears to culminate with recent findings of Na et al., (2022), Case and Deaton (2020), and Tilstra et al., (2021). Na et al. (2022) accessed data from the National Epidemiologic Society on Alcohol and Related Conditions Wave III studying populations with substance use disorder (SUD), suicide attempt, and each condition individually compared to those with neither condition. The authors note a dramatic increase in US mortality rates among Caucasians with no religious affiliation without a college degree due to drug overdose, suicide, and alcohol-related liver disease. Case and Deaton (2020) refer to this growing phenomenon as "deaths of despair" from living "lives of despair." The authors note other factors including the high cost of medical care, childhood trauma and a history of psychiatric disorder, and low socioeconomic status as a main contributor to suicide and drug overdose deaths. Na and colleagues (2022) found a significant increase in SUD related deaths in this population, noting dismal living circumstances and no perception of having no hope for succeeding in life. Tilstra et al. (2021) also found a growing trend in deaths of despair due to the

opioid epidemic for those with similar demographic living circumstances. As noted earlier, there were over 107,000 deaths from opioid overdoses in the US in 2021.

Future Research Considerations

Due to the limited body of research that exists regarding this specific group of individuals who are particularly at risk, it is crucial to conduct future research in response to the heightened mortality rates resulting from self-administration of medication as a consequence of co-occurring mental disorders, physical injuries, and/or recreational purposes. According to preliminary statistics from the National Center for Health Statistics at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), it has been projected that there were around 100,306 deaths caused by drug overdoses in the United States throughout a 12-month period ending in April 2021. This figure represents a notable rise of 28.5% when compared to the 78,056 deaths recorded during the corresponding time in the previous year. The latest statistics reveals that the number of estimated opioid overdose fatalities rose to 75,673 over the 12-month period concluding in April 2021, representing a significant increase from the previous year's figure of 56,064. Moreover, it is imperative to have more studies to examine the psychosocial and psychological requirements for individuals with opioid use disorder and comorbid mental disorders, as they face heightened susceptibility to numerous adverse elements that can significantly impact their overall wellbeing. There appears to exist a reciprocal association between psychosocial factors and substance use, whereby individuals with lower socioeconomic status are more vulnerable to developing substance use disorders, and in turn, substance use disorders may contribute to socioeconomic challenges (Hooker et al., 2020). Furthermore, Hooker et al. (2020) considered that future research should investigate the correlation between continuous Medications for

Opioid Use Disorder (MOUD) treatment and the decrease in mental health symptoms, as well as the enhancement of overall quality of life, such as food security. While it is crucial to prioritize the evaluation and therapy of concurrent mental health disorders, it is also important to devote adequate focus to investigating the wider psychosocial requirements of patients initiating MOUD in primary care settings.

Further investigation and clinical consideration are also warranted in the field of opioid use disorder (OUD) on the social determinants of health that significantly impact individuals' lives. These determinants include factors such as housing and food instability, neighborhood violence, and unfavorable childhood experiences (Hooker et al., 2020). Adverse childhood experiences constitute a significant determinant for the development of both OUD and comorbid mental health disorders. Early-life trauma has the potential to impede the innate process of brain construction and development, as well as the functioning of reward processing. The disruption of the nervous system in the brain enhances the likelihood of OUD as well as the simultaneous occurrence of mental health disorders (Herzog & Schmahl, 2018). In conclusion, it is imperative for future studies to investigate these variables using diverse samples and settings, including rural environments and alternative treatment facilities like emergency departments or specialized treatment centers. Furthermore, researchers should strive to broaden the scope of outcome variables that hold significance within this population, such as interactions with the legal system, parenting abilities, and interpersonal relationships (Hooker et al., 2020).

Implications

A number of implications can be drawn from the current study. The findings could prove beneficial for informing best practices for counselors, educators, and researchers. Psychological and psychosocial factors have the potential to exert a favorable influence on our mental wellbeing, consequently impacting our overall health. When an individual's psychological well-being is in a state of balance, there is a greater likelihood to adopt a positive perspective on life. This study confirmed that mental health diagnoses, incarceration status, and housing insecurity impact resilience and life satisfaction.

Rehabilitation Counselors

Mental health professionals should possess the expertise necessary to assist individuals in addressing any concerns that have the potential to adversely affect their psychological wellbeing. Engaging in therapeutic interventions such as Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT), Dialectical Behavior Therapy (DBT), and Motivational Interviewing (MI) can facilitate the comprehension of the intricate relationship between cognitive and emotional processes, thereby shedding light on their influence on our physiological well-being. Additionally, Ganz (2008) indicates that the absence of psychological health therapy hinders patients from receiving essential care. This is evidenced by their non-compliance with treatment plans, inadequate management of their disease and recovery, and lack of access to critical services, all of which pose a threat to their overall recovery process. In order to effectively treat the underlying causes and support the process of recovery, mental health counselors must extensively explore not just the psychological issues but also the psychosocial concerns of their clients.

A considerable body of research and literature has presented evidence of a noticeable discrepancy in the way psychosocial health needs are addressed in the provision of care. The aforementioned demands encompass the identification and effective handling of depression, anxiety, fear, developmental issues, disability, pain, and impairments in activities of daily living. These several aspects collectively contribute to the psychosocial well-being of clients. The presence of financial stress, insufficient or absence of health insurance, and constraints in mobility were also recognized as obstacles in addressing psychosocial health requirements. Wilson (2003) states that the ecological approach to counseling recognizes the detrimental effects that an unwelcoming environment can exert on the welfare of clients. While describing the developmental counseling and therapy paradigm, Ivey et al. (2018) highlight the influence of external stressors on intrapsychic transformations in clients. The authors provide examples of the reciprocal effect and progression of these interactions: (a) environmental or biological insult, which may result in (b) physical or emotional pain and stress, which may subsequently lead to (c) sadness or depression, which may ultimately result in (d) pain management and potentially mental disorders.

According to Ratts (2009), there is a proposition that social advocacy might be considered as the "fifth force" within the counseling profession, serving as an extension of, and complement to, the multicultural movement (p. 28). When examining the issue of social justice pertaining to individuals with substance use disorders and mental health issues, it is evident that counselors and case managers possess the ability to impact various potential disparities in healthcare, education, housing, and employment. Individuals who are afflicted with substance use disorders and mental health illnesses, particularly those who belong to minority groups, are statistically recognized as the most marginalized population in the United States (National

Organization on Disability, 2004). Counselors are required to recognize environmental disparities, as well as the effects of oppression and prejudice on clients who may experience feelings of despair and abandonment.

In particular, the researchers discovered that individuals who suffered from both a psychiatric and substance use disorder concurrently perceived greater oppression and discrimination from medical practitioners. Consequently, this was correlated positively with the severity of psychiatric disorders, self-reported overall health, and diminished levels of life satisfaction and well-being. It is imperative that counselors are ready to intervene and champion the interests of their clients in situations where they observe adverse attitudes exhibited by healthcare professionals. As such, rehabilitation educators could teach, and clinical rehabilitation counselors can practice becoming social justice advocates and add that aspect to their clinical practice.

Educators/Students

Additionally, it is essential that rehabilitation educators educate their students in multicultural counseling courses to employ a comprehensive methodology while addressing individuals struggling with opioid use disorder and mental health disorders, with the aim of promoting their journey towards recovery. For instance, the motivation of individuals to actively engage in their recovery might be influenced by their mental health. Individuals experiencing feelings of hopelessness or being overwhelmed may exhibit reduced adherence to prescribed treatments or therapeutic interventions. Contrarily, individuals may exhibit a contrasting response when experiencing a sense of hope and optimism over their potential for recovery, resulting in heightened involvement in self-care routines and rehabilitation efforts. The impact of mental health on an individual's capacity to effectively cope with pain and suffering can be significant.

Limitations

One of the initial limitations of this study pertains to its lack of generalizability to a broader population. Moreover, this research was limited to participants who were undergoing treatment at a local agency. Individuals undergoing treatment were also required to have access to the internet and a computer. Ultimately, those who were homeless and lacked access to resources, and in all likelihood requiring more treatment than the majority who were able to participate, were not able to take part. In addition, those individuals who were presently receiving treatment for mental illness in a psychiatric unit would not have had access to the survey.

Finally, the larger the sample population, the greater the likelihood of rejecting the null hypothesis. By ensuring that the sample is larger than is necessary, one can obtain results that are more accurate and representative of the entire population. However, the increase in accuracy may be negligible beyond a certain point, rendering the additional effort and expense associated with recruiting a larger number of participants (Kaplan et al., 2014).

Final statement

In conclusion, the present study emphasized the demographic factors of housing insecurity, incarceration status, and multiple mental health disorder diagnoses, all of which have an impact on psychological well-being among individuals with opioid use disorder and co-occurring mental health disorders. This study delved deeper into the significance of psychological and psychosocial elements linked to overdose, addiction, and dependence among those who are opioid-dependent and concurrently experiencing mental health issues. Given the emergence of these factors, it is vital for future research to undertake an investigation into additional variables, such as trauma/abuse, food insecurity, and health insurance, and perhaps incorporate the social and medical models of disability. Hopefully, the current study can be used to prepare students, inform counselors, and provide guidance for researchers looking to explore similar constructs and expand the knowledge base in the ever-changing field of rehabilitation counseling. The author's intention is to emphasize the importance of identifying relevant possible risk factors in order to support substance addiction counselors in their efforts to provide effective treatment and facilitate recovery for individuals in this community.

REFERENCES

Abbas, S., & Iqbal, S. (2018). Stigmatization and self-esteem among men with substance use disorders. *Pakistan Journal of Psychology*, 49(1). <u>http://pjpku.com/index.php/pjp/article/view/29</u>

American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed.).

https://doiorg.ezproxy.frederick.edu/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596

- Archambault, L., Jutras-Aswad, D., Touré, E. H., Artunduaga, A. C., Roy, S., Barbeau, D., & Perreault, M. (2022). Profiles of patients with opioid use disorders presenting a history of suicidal ideations and attempts. *Psychiatric Quarterly*, 93(2), 637-650. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11126-022-09978-3</u>
- Baggett, T. P., Keyes, H., Sporn, N., & Gaeta, J. M. (2020). Prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 infection in residents of a large homeless shelter in Boston. *Jama*, 323(21), 2191-2192. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1001/jama.2020.6887</u>

- Baggett, T. P., O'Connell, J. J., Singer, D. E., & Rigotti, N. A. (2010). The unmet health care needs of homeless adults: a national study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(7), 1326-1333. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2009.180109</u>
- Baginski, B. N., Byrne, K. A., Demosthenes, L., & Roth, P. J. (2022). Examining internalizing mental health correlates of addiction severity in patients hospitalized with medical complications from substance use disorder. *Substance Abuse: Research and Treatment*, 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/11782218221115583</u>
- Bakos-Block, C., Langabeer, J. R., Yatsco, A., Cardenas-Turanzas, M., & Champagne-Langabeer, T. (2020). Prevalence of Mental Health Disorders among Individuals
 Enrolled in an Emergency Response Program for Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder.
 Substance abuse : research and treatment, 14, 1178221820981998.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1178221820981998
- Barbosa-Leiker, C., Campbell, A. N., McHugh, R. K., Guille, C., & Greenfield, S. F. (2021). Opioid use disorder in women and the implications for treatment. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.prcp.20190051</u>

Blanchard, J., Weiss, A. J., Barrett, M. L., Stocks, C., Owens, P. L., Coffey, R., & Heslin, K. C. (2019). Readmissions following inpatient treatment for opioid-related conditions. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 54(3), 473-481. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2018.151717</u>

- Blodgett, J. C., Maisel, N. C., Fuh, I. L., Wilbourne, P. L., & Finney, J. W. (2014). How effective is continuing care for substance use disorders? A meta-analytic review. *Journal* of Substance Abuse Treatment, 46(2), 87-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2013.08.022</u>
- Benazzi, F. (2022). Various forms of depression. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *8*, 151–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2006.8.2/fbenazzi</u>
- Bobinac, A., Van Exel, N. J. A., Rutten, F. F., & Brouwer, W. B. (2010). Caring for and caring about: disentangling the caregiver effect and the family effect. *Journal of Health Economics*, 29(4), 549-556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2010.05.003
- Böckerman, P., Johansson, E., & Saarni, S. I. (2011). Do established health-related quality-oflife measures adequately capture the impact of chronic conditions on subjective wellbeing? *Health Policy*, 100(1), 91-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2010.10.008</u>
- Bohnert, A. S., & Ilgen, M. A. (2019). Understanding links among opioid use, overdose, and suicide. New England Journal of Medicine, 380(1), 71-79. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1802148
- Bonanno, G. A. (2004). Loss, trauma, and human resilience: Have we underestimated the human capacity to thrive after extremely aversive events? *The American Psychologist*, 59(1), 20–28. <u>https://doi.org/10.103 7/0003-066X.59.1.20</u>

- Bordens, K. S., & Horowitz, I. A. (2008). *Social psychology*, (3rd ed; p.40). USA: Freeload Press.
- Box, G. E. (1953). Non-normality and tests on variances. *Biometrika*, 40(3/4), 318-335.
- Braden, J. B., Sullivan, M. D., Ray, G. T., Saunders, K., Merrill, J., Silverberg, M. J., ... & Von Korff, M. (2009). Trends in long-term opioid therapy for noncancer pain among persons with a history of depression. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 31(6), 564-570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2009.07.003</u>

Braverman, M. T. (2001). Applying resilience theory to the prevention of adolescent substance abuse. *Focus*, 7(2), 1-12. <u>https://www.impactfolios.com/jjam2/media/substancepreventionreslience.pdf</u>

Bray, J. W., Aden, B., Eggman, A. A., Hellerstein, L., Wittenberg, E., Nosyk, B., ... & Schackman, B. R. (2017). Quality of life as an outcome of opioid use disorder treatment: a systematic review. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *76*, 88-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2017.01.019

Brennan, M. A. (2008). Conceptualizing resiliency: An interactional perspective for community and youth development. *Child Care in practice*, 14(1), 55-64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13575270701733732</u>

- Brody, D. J., Pratt, L.A., & Hughes, J. (2018). Prevalence of depression among adults aged 20 and over: United States, 2013-2016. NCHS data brief. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29638213/</u>
- Buhrmester, D., Furman, W., Wittenberg, M., & Reis, H. (1988). Five domains of interpersonal competence in peer relation- ships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 55, 991-1008. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0022-3514.55.6.991</u>
- Bujang, M. A., Sa'at, N., Sidik, T. M. I. T. A. B., & Joo, L. C. (2018). Sample size guidelines for logistic regression from observational studies with large population: Emphasis on the accuracy between statistics and parameters based on real life clinical data. *The Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences: MJMS*, *25*(4), 122–130. https://doi.org/10.21315/mjms2018.25.4.12
- Burns, R. A., & Crisp, D. A. (2022). Prioritizing happiness has important implications for mental health, but perhaps only if you already are happy. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, 17(1), 375-390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-020-09891-6</u>
- Cacciola, J. S., Alterman, A. I., Rutherford, M. J., McKay, J. R., & Mulvaney, F. D. (2001). The relationship of psychiatric comorbidity to treatment outcomes in methadone maintained patients. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, *61*(3), 271–280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0376-8716(00)00148-4</u>

- Campbell, G., Bruno, R., Darke, S., & Degenhardt, L. (2015). Associations of borderline personality with pain, problems with medications, and suicidality in a community sample of chronic non-cancer pain patients prescribed opioids for pain. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 37(5), 434-440. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2015.05.004</u>
- Cao, Q., & Zhou, Y. (2021). Association between social support and life satisfaction among people with substance use disorder: the mediating role of resilience. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, 20(3), 415-427. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15332640.2019.1657545</u>
- Carpentier, P. J., Krabbe, P. F., Van Gogh, M. T., Knapen, L. J., Buitelaar, J. K., & De Jong, C.
 A. (2009). Psychiatric comorbidity reduces quality of life in chronic methadone maintained patients. *American Journal on Addictions*, 18(6), 470-480. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10550490903205652.</u>
- Case, A., & Deaton, A. (2020). *Deaths of despair and the future of capitalism*. Princeton University Press.
- Cauley, C. E., Anderson, G., Haynes, A. B., Menendez, M., Bateman, B. T., & Ladha, K. (2017). Predictors of in-hospital postoperative opioid overdose after major elective operations: a nationally representative cohort study. *Annals of surgery*, 265(4), 702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.00000000001945</u>
Cavazos-Rehg, P., Xu, C., Krauss, M. J., Min, C., Winograd, R., Grucza, R., & Bierut, L. J.
(2021). Understanding barriers to treatment among individuals not engaged in treatment who misuse opioids: A structural equation modeling approach. *Substance Abuse*, 42(4), 842-850. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2021.1876199

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). Overdose deaths accelerating during COVID-19. *Press Release December 17*, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2020/p1218-overdose-deaths-covid- 19.html.

Center for Disease Control and Prevention (2015). Number and age-adjusted rates of drug-poisoning deaths involving opioid analgesics and heroin: United States, 2000–2014. *National Center for Health Statistics, National Vital Statistics System, Mortality File,*Atlanta, GA. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/health_policy/AADR_</u>
drug poisoning involving OA Heroin US 2000-2014. pdf.

Chan, A. C., Palepu, A., Guh, D. P., Sun, H., Schechter, M. T., O'Shaughnessy, M. V., & Anis,
A. H. (2004). HIV-positive injection drug users who leave the hospital against medical advice: the mitigating role of methadone and social support. *JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes*, 35(1), 56-59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00126334-200401010-00008</u>

- Chen, X., Wang, Y., Yu, X., Schoenfeld, E., Saltz, M., Saltz, J., & Wang, F. (2018). Large-scale Analysis of Opioid Poisoning Related Hospital Visits in New York State. AMIA ... Annual Symposium proceedings. AMIA Symposium, 2017, 545–554.
- Cheung, K. C. K., & Chou, K.-L. (2019). Poverty, deprivation, and depressive symptoms among older adults in Hong Kong. *Aging & Mental Health*, 23(1), 22–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2017.1394438</u>
- Choi, M., Kim, H., Qian, H., & Palepu, A. (2011). Readmission rates of patients discharged against medical advice: a matched cohort study. *PloS one*, 6(9), e24459. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0024459
- Ciobanu, I., Di Patrizio, P., Baumann, C., Schwan, R., Vlamynck, G., Bédès, A., ... & Bourion-Bédès, S. (2020). Relationships between coping, anxiety, depression and health-related quality of life in outpatients with substance use disorders: results of the SUBUSQOL study. *Psychology, Health & Medicine*, 25(2), 179-189.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2019.1679847
- Clifford, P. R., Edmundson, E. W., Koch, W. R., & Dodd, B. G. (1991). Drug use and life satisfaction among college students. *International Journal of the Addictions*, 26(1), 45–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10826089109056238</u>

- Cobb-Clark, D. A., & Kettlewell, N. (2021). Psychological, social and cognitive resources and the mental wellbeing of the poor. *Plos One*, *16*(10), e0258417. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.025841</u>
- Cochran, B. N., Flentje, A., Heck, N. C., Van Den Bos, J., Perlman, D., Torres, J., ... & Carter, J. (2014). Factors predicting development of opioid use disorders among individuals who receive an initial opioid prescription: mathematical modeling using a database of commercially-insured individuals. *Drug and alcohol dependence*, *138*, 202-208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.02.701
- Cole, N. N., Nonterah, C. W., Utsey, S. O., Hook, J. N., Hubbard, R. R., Opare-Henaku, A., & Fischer, N. L. (2015). Predictor and moderator effects of ego resilience and mindfulness on the relationship between academic stress and psychological well-being in a sample of Ghanaian college students. *Journal of Black Psychology*, *41*(4), 340–357. https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1177/00957984145379
- Connor, K. M., & Davidson, J. R. (2003). Development of a new resilience scale: The Connor-Davidson resilience scale (CD-RISC). *Depression and Anxiety*, 18(2), 76-82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/da.10113</u>

- Crispo, J. A., Thibault, D. P., & Willis, A. W. (2019). Adverse drug events as a reason for adult hospitalization: a nationwide readmission study. *Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 53(6), 557-566. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1060028018818571</u>
- Crocker, J., & Quinn, D. M. (2000). Social stigma and the self: Meanings, situations, and selfesteem. In T. F. Heatherton, R. E. Kleck, M. R. Hebl, & J. G. Hull (Eds.), *The Social Psychology of Stigma*, 153–183. The Guilford Press.
- Cruden, G., & Karmali, R. (2021). Opioid misuse as a coping behavior for unmet mental health needs among US adults. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 225, 108805. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108805</u>
- Cudjoe, T. K., Roth, D. L., Szanton, S. L., Wolff, J. L., Boyd, C. M., & Thorpe, R. J. (2020). The epidemiology of social isolation: National Health and Aging Trends Study. *The Journals* of Gerontology: Series B, 75(1), 107–113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gby037</u>
- Cui, L., & Yao, B. (2012). Relations between social support and life satisfaction of new generation peasant-workers. *Journal of Hunan Agricultural University (Social Sciences)*, 13, 41-44.
- Daley, D. C., Smith, E., Balogh, D., & Toscaloni, J. (2018). Forgotten but not gone: The impact of the opioid epidemic and other substance use disorders on families and children. *Commonwealth*, 20(2-3). <u>https://doi.org/10.15367/com.v20i2-3.189</u>

- Daley, W., Daley, J., & Daley, D. (2014). "A Parent's Journey to Recovery." *Counselor Connection*
- Dar, S. A., Wani, Z. A., Baba, N. F., Nabi, J., & Khanam, A. (2020). A cross-sectional study to assess disability and internalized stigma among treatment-seeking individuals with opioid use disorders. *Indian Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 36(3), 208. <u>https://www.indjsp.org/temp/IndianJSocPsychiatry363208-8036241_221922.pdf</u>
- Datta, A., Oglesby, W., & George, B. (2022). Access to Health Insurance and Treatment Utilization for Opioid Use Disorder: Evidence from State Medicaid Expansions. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-1220775/v1</u>
- Davies, A., & Wood, L. J. (2018). Homeless health care: meeting the challenges of providing primary care. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 209(5), 230-234.
 https://www.mja.com.au/system/files/issues/209_05/10.5694mja17.01264.pdf
- DiTomasso, E., & Spinner, B. (1997). Social and emotional loneliness: A re-examination of Weiss' typology of loneliness. *Personality and Individual Differences, 22,* 417-427.
- Doane, D. P., & Seward, L. E. (2011). Measuring skewness: a forgotten statistic?. *Journal of statistics education*, 19(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10691898.2011.11889611</u>

Doran, K. M., Rahai, N., McCormack, R. P., Milian, J., Shelley, D., Rotrosen, J., & Gelberg, L. (2018). Substance use and homelessness among emergency department patients. *Drug And Alcohol Dependence*, 188, 328-333.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.04.021

Dunigan, R., Acevedo, A., Campbell, K., Garnick, D., Horgan, C., Huber, A., ... Ritter, G.
(2014). Engagement in outpatient substance abuse treatment and employment out- comes. *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Treatment*, 41(1), 20–36.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s11414-013-9334-2

- Eitan, S., Emery, M. A., Bates, M. S., & Horrax, C. (2017). Opioid addiction: Who are your real friends? *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 83, 697-712. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.017</u>
- El-Genady, E. M. I., & Wahab, M. A. E. (2020). Effect of perceived social support and resilience on life satisfaction and stress tolerance among patients with substance use disorders. *International Journal of Novel Research in Healthcare and Nursing*, 7(1), 651-663.<u>https://www.noveltyjournals.com/upload/paper/Effect%20of%20Perceived%20Socia</u> <u>1%20Support-2230.pdf</u>
- El-Gohari, H. M., Fouad, E., & Abdelghani, M. (2022). Opioid use disorders related to tramadol among an Egyptian sample of male psychiatric patients: prevalence and sociodemographic and clinical correlates. *Journal of Substance Use*, 27(1), 50-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14659891.2021.1892220</u>

- Elkins, M., Farrell, L., & Fry, J. (2020). Investigating the relationship between housing insecurity and wellbeing. *Measuring, Understanding and Improving Wellbeing Among Older People*, 41-73.
- Ellis, A. R., Konrad, T. R., Thomas, K. C., & Morrissey, J. P. (2009). County-level estimates of mental health professional supply in the United States. *Psychiatric Services*, 60(10), 1315-1322. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ps.2009.60.10.1315</u>
- Evans, E., Kelleghan, A., Li, L., Min, J., Huang, D., Urada, D., ... & Nosyk, B. (2015). Gender differences in mortality among treated opioid-dependent patients. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 155, 228-235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2015.07.010</u>
- Elkins, M., Farrell, L., & Fry, J. (2020). Investigating the relationship between housing insecurity and wellbeing. *Measuring, Understanding and Improving Wellbeing Among Older People*, 41-73.
- Fanucchi, L., & Lofwall, M. R. (2016). Putting parity into practice—integrating opioid-use disorder treatment into the hospital setting. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 375(9), 811-813. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMp1606157</u>

- Fareed, A., Eilender, P., Ketchen, B., Buchanan-Cummings, A. M., Scheinberg, K., Crampton, K., ... & Drexler, K. (2014). Factors affecting noncompliance with buprenorphine maintenance treatment. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 8(5), 345-350. https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.00000000000057
- Fava, G. A., Savron, G., Rafanelli, C., Grandi, S., & Canestrari, R. (1996). Prodromal symptoms in obsessive-compulsive disor- der. *Psychopathology*, 29, 131-134. https://doi.org/10.1159/000284981
- Feder, K. A., Mojtabai, R., Musci, R. J., & Letourneau, E. J. (2018). U.S. adults with opioid use disorder living with children: Treatment use and barriers to care. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 93, 31–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2018.07.011</u>
- Feng, Z., Wan, P. Y., Huang, Q., Huang, X., Xu, M., & Yang, X. (2016). The relationship between social support, resilience, cyber-bullying and life satisfaction among college students. *Chinese Journal of Health Education*, 32(1), 8-11.
- Ferrari, J. R., Stevens, E. B., Legler, R., & Jason, L. A. (2012). Hope, self-esteem, and selfregulation: Positive characteristics among men and women in recovery. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 40(3), 292-300. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.20509</u>

Field, A. (2013). Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS statistics (4th ed.). Sage Publications.

- Foster, A. C., & Rojas, A. (2018). Program participation and spending patterns of families receiving government means-tested assistance. *Monthly Labor Review*, 1-22. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/90018898</u>
- Frances, R. J., & Franklin, J. E. (1988). Alcohol and other psycho-active substance use disorders.
 In J. A. Talbott, R. E. Hales, & S. C. Yousofsky (Eds.), *Textbook of Psychiatry* (pp. 67-75). Washington, DC: American Psychiatry Press.
- Fromson, J.A., (2023). The opioid crisis: impact, challenges, and paths to recovery american psychiatric association.

https://www.psychiatry.org/news-room/apa-blogs/opioid-crisis-impact-challenges-recovery

- Galea, S., & Ettman, C. K. (2021). Mental Health and Mortality in a Time of COVID-19. *American Journal of Public Health*, 111(S2), S73-S74. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2021.306278</u>
- Garrido, S., Méndez, I., & Abellán, J. M. (2013). Analyzing the simultaneous relationship between life satisfaction and health-related quality of life. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *14*, 1813-1838. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-012-9411-x</u>

- Gaulen, Z., Benth, J. Š., Fadnes, L. T., Brenna, I. H., & Tanum, L. (2022). Life satisfaction among individuals with opioid use disorder receiving extended-release naltrexone: A 12week randomized controlled trial and a 36-week follow-up. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 135, 108656. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108656</u>
- Gharehgozli, O., & Atal, V. (2020). Revisiting the gender wage gap in the United States. *Economic Analysis and Policy, 66*, 207–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eap.2020.04.008</u>
- Ghosh, A., Sharma, N., Noble, D., Basu, D., Mattoo, S. K., Bhagyalakshmi Nanjayya, S., & Pillai, R. R. (2022). Predictors of Five-year Readmission to an Inpatient Service among Patients with Opioid Use Disorders. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1080/02791072.2022.2057260
- Gilbert, F. S. (1988). The effect of type of aftercare follow-up on treatment outcome among alcoholics. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 49(2), 149-159. https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.1988.49.149
- Graham, C., Higuera, L., & Lora, E. (2011). Which health conditions cause the most unhappiness? *Health Economics*, 20(12), 1431-1447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hec.1682</u>

- Grzebinski, S., Stein, L., & Dhamoon, M. S. (2021). Characteristics and outcomes of hospitalizations and readmissions for opioid dependence and overdose: nationally representative data. *Substance Abuse*, 42(4), 654-661. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2020.1823548</u>
- Gold, S. M., Köhler-Forsberg, O., Moss-Morris, R., Mehnert, A., Miranda, J. J., Bullinger, M., ...
 & Otte, C. (2020). Comorbid depression in medical diseases. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 6(1), 69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-020-0200-2</u>
- Gow, A. J., Pattie, A., Whiteman, M. C., Whalley, L. J., & Deary, I. J. (2007). Social support and successful aging: Investigating the relationships between lifetime cognitive change and life satisfaction. *Journal of Individual Differences, 28*(3), 103. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1027/1614-0001.28.3.103</u>
- Gupta, A., Nizamuddin, J., Elmofty, D., Nizamuddin, S. L., Tung, A., Minhaj, M., ... & Shahul,
 S. (2018). Opioid abuse or dependence increases 30-day readmission rates after major
 operating room procedures: a national readmissions database
 study. *Anesthesiology*, *128*(5), 880-890. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ALN.00000000002136</u>
- Gureje, O., Simon, G. E., & Von Korff, M. (2001). A cross-national study of the course of persistent pain in primary care. *Pain*, 92(1-2), 195-200. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(00)00483-8

- Haider, M. R., Brown, M. J., Gupta, R. D., Karim, S., Olatosi, B., & Li, X. (2020). Psycho-social correlates of opioid use disorder among the US adult population: evidence from the National Survey on Drug Use and Health, 2015–2018. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 55(12), 2002-2010. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2020.1788086
- Hajek, A., & König, H. H. (2021). Does the beginning and the end of income poverty affect psychosocial factors among middle-aged and older adults? Findings based on nationally representative longitudinal data. *Aging & Mental Health*, 25(5), 906–912.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2020.1725740
- Kaplan, R. M., Chambers, D. A., & Glasgow, R. E. (2014). Big data and large sample size: a cautionary note on the potential for bias. *Clinical and translational science*, 7(4), 342–346. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12178</u>
- Harris, A. H., Gupta, S., Bowe, T., Ellerbe, L. S., Phelps, T. E., Rubinsky, A. D., ... & Trafton, J. (2015). Predictive validity of two process-of-care quality measures for residential substance use disorder treatment. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, 10(1), 1-8. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-015-0042-5
- Hasin, D. S., Sarvet, A. L., Meyers, J. L., Saha, T. D., Ruan, W. J., Stohl, M., & Grant, B. F.
 (2018). Epidemiology of adult DSM-5 major depressive disorder and its specifiers in the United States. *JAMA psychiatry*, 75(4), 336-346. <u>doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.4602</u>

- Hayter, M. R., & Dorstyn, D. S. (2014). Resilience, self-esteem, and self-compassion in adults with spina bifida. *Spinal Cord*, 52(2), 167-171. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sc.2013.152</u>
- Hedayati, M. M., & Khazaei, M. M. (2014). An investigation of the relationship between depression, meaning in life, and adult hope. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 114, 598-601. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.12.753</u>
- Hemsing, N., Greaves, L., Poole, N., & Schmidt, R. (2016). Misuse of prescription opioid medication among women: a scoping review. *Pain Research and Management*, 2016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/1754195</u>
- Henry, B. F. (2020). Adverse experiences, mental health, and substance use disorders as social determinants of incarceration. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 48(3), 744-762. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22289</u>
- Herbeck, D. M., Jeter, K. E., Cousins, S. J., Abdelmaksoud, R., & Crèvecoeur-MacPhail, D. (2016). Gender differences in treatment and clinical characteristics among patients receiving extended release naltrexone. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, *35*(4), 305-314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2016.1189659</u>

- Herzog, J. I., & Schmahl, C. (2018). Adverse Childhood Experiences and the Consequences on Neurobiological, Psychosocial, and Somatic Conditions Across the Lifespan. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 9, 420. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00420</u>
- Hesse, M., Thylstrup, B., Seid, A. K., & Skogen, J. C. (2020). Suicide among people treated for drug use disorders: A Danish national record-linkage study. *BMC Public Health*, 20(1), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12889-020-8261-4.</u>
- Hooker, S. A., Sherman, M. D., Lonergan-Cullum, M., Sattler, A., Liese, B. S., Justesen, K., ...
 & Levy, R. (2020). Mental health and psychosocial needs of patients being treated for opioid use disorder in a primary care residency clinic. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, *11*, 2150132720932017. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2150132720932017</u>
- Howard, S., & Hughes, B. M. (2012). Benefit of social support for resilience-building is contingent on social context: examining cardiovascular adaptation to recurrent stress in women. *Anxiety, Stress, and Coping*, 25(4), 411–423.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/10615806.2011.64093
- Hser, Y. I., Evans, E., Grella, C., Ling, W., & Anglin, D. (2015). Long-term course of opioid addiction. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 23(2), 76-89. <u>https://doi.org/</u> <u>10.1097/HRP.000000000000052</u>

- Huhn, A. S., Berry, M. S., & Dunn, K. E. (2019). Sex-based differences in treatment outcomes for persons with opioid use disorder. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 28(4), 246-261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12921</u>
- Huhn, A. S., & Dunn, K. E. (2020). Challenges for women entering treatment for opioid use disorder. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 22(12), 76. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11920-020-</u> 01201-z
- Hyde, L. W., Gorka, A., Manuck, S. B., & Hariri, A. R. (2011). Perceived social support moderates the link between threat-related amygdala reactivity and trait anxiety. *Neuropsychologia*, 49(4), 651–656.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2010.08.025
- Ingram, R. E., & Price, J. M. (2010). Understanding psychopathology: The role of vulnerability. In R. E. Ingram & J. M. Price (Eds.), *Vulnerability to psychopathology: Risk across the lifespan* (pp. 3–17). The Guilford Press.
- Irving, L. M., Seidner, A. L., Burling, T. A., Pagliarini, R., & Robbins-Sisco, D. (1998). Hope and recovery from substance dependence in homeless veterans. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 17(4), 389-406. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.1998.17.4.389</u>
- Ivey, A. E., Ivey, M. B., & Zalaquett, C. P. (2018). Intentional interviewing and counseling: Facilitating client development in a multicultural society. Cengage Learning.

- Jiao, M., Gu, J., Xu, H., Hao, C., Lau, J.T.F., Mo, P., Liu, D., Zhao, Y., Zhang, X., Babbitt, A., Hao, Y., (2017). Resilience associated with mental health problems among methadone maintenance treatment patients in Guangzhou, China. *AIDS care*, 29(5),660–665. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2016.1255705.</u>
- Jiménez-Solomon, O., Primrose, R., Moon, I., Wall, M., Galfalvy, H., Méndez-Bustos, P., ... & Lewis-Fernández, R. (2022). Financial Hardship, Hope, and Life Satisfaction Among Un/Underemployed Individuals With Psychiatric Diagnoses: A Mediation Analysis. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 13, 867421. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2022.867421</u>
- Johnson, J. L., & Wiechelt, S. A. (2004). Introduction to the special issue on resilience. Substance use & misuse, 39(5), 657-670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1081/JA-120034010</u>
- Jones, C. M., & McCance-Katz, E. F. (2019). Co-occurring substance use and mental disorders among adults with opioid use disorder. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 197, 78–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.12.030</u>

Kaplan, R. M., & Ries, A. L. (2007). Quality of life: concept and definition. *COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 4(3), 263-271.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15412550701480356

- Katon, W., Lin, E. H., & Kroenke, K. (2007). The association of depression and anxiety with medical symptom burden in patients with chronic medical illness. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 29(2), 147-155.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2006.11.005</u>
- Kaufman, B. G., Thomas, S. R., Randolph, R. K., Perry, J. R., Thompson, K. W., Holmes, G. M., & Pink, G. H. (2016). The rising rate of rural hospital closures. *The Journal of Rural Health*, 32(1), 35-43.<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jrh.12128</u>
- Kellett, K., Ligus, K., & Robison, J. (2021). "So glad to be home": Money follows the person participants' experiences after transitioning out of an institution. *Journal of Disability Policy Studies*, 1-11, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10442073211043519</u>
- Kernis, M. H. (2000). Substitute needs and the distinction between fragile and secure high selfesteem. *Psychological Inquiry*, 11, 298-300. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/1449625</u>
- Keyes, K. M., Cerdá, M., Brady, J. E., Havens, J. R., & Galea, S. (2014). Understanding the rural–urban differences in nonmedical prescription opioid use and abuse in the United States. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(2), e52-e59. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301709</u>
- Khanam, S. J., Rizwan, M., & Bilal, K. (2008). Self-esteem and psychopathological symptomatology: A correlational study. *Pakistan Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 7(1), 43-54.

- Kim, J. H., Ntinda, K., Mora, E., Salinas, A., Rangel, G., Lopez, J. M., ... & Lee, D. H. (2023).
 Resilience through the Lens of Optimism, Self-Esteem, Life Satisfaction, and Virtues: Hierarchical Regression Analysis. <u>https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-3242982/v1</u>
- King, C., Cook, R., Korthuis, P. T., Morris, C. D., & Englander, H. (2022). Causes of death in the 12 months after hospital discharge among patients with opioid use disorder. *Journal* of Addiction Medicine. doi: 10.1097/ADM.00000000000091
- Kocalevent, R. D., Hinz, A., & Brähler, E. (2013). Standardization of the depression screener patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9) in the general population. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 35(5), 551-555. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2013.04.006</u>
- Koenig, H. G. (2009). Research on religion, spirituality, and mental health: A review. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, 54(5), 283-291.
 https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/070674370905400502
- Kong, F., Ding, K., & Zhao, J. (2015). The relationships among gratitude, self-esteem, social support and life satisfaction among undergraduate students. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 16(2), 477–489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-014-9519-2</u>
- Kong, F., & You, X. (2013). Loneliness and self-esteem as mediators between social support and life satisfaction in late adolescence. *Social Indicators Research*, *110*(1), 271–279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-011-9930-6</u>

- Kong, F., Zhao, J., & You, X. (2013). Self-esteem as mediator and moderator of the relationship between social support and subjective well-being among Chinese university students. *Social Indicators Research*, 112(1), 151–161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-012-0044-6</u>
- Koons, A. L., Greenberg, M. R., Cannon, R. D., & Beauchamp, G. A. (2018). Women and the experience of pain and opioid use disorder: a literature-based commentary. *Clinical Therapeutics*, 40(2), 190-196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2017.12.016</u>
- Kroenke, K., Spitzer, R. L., & Williams, J. B. (2001). The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *16*(9), 606-613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x</u>
- Kuiper, H., van Leeuwen, C., Stolwijk-Swüste, J. M., & Post, M. W. (2019). Measuring resilience with the Connor–Davidson Resilience Scale (CD-RISC): which version to choose? *Spinal Cord*, 57(5), 360-366. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41393-019-0240-1</u>
- Kushel, M. B., Gupta, R., Gee, L., & Haas, J. S. (2006). Housing instability and food insecurity as barriers to health care among low-income Americans. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 21(1), 71-77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.00278.x</u>

- Lander, L., Howsare, J., & Byrne, M. (2013). The impact of substance use disorders on families and children: From theory to practice. *Social Work in Public Health*, 28(3-4), 194-205. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2013.759005</u>
- Leamy, M., Bird, V., Le Boutillier, C., Williams, J., & Slade, M. (2011). Conceptual framework for personal recovery in mental health: systematic review and narrative synthesis. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 199(6), 445-452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.bp.110.083733</u>
- Leary, M. R., & MacDonald, G. (2003). Individual differences in self-esteem: A review and theoretical integration. In M. R. Leary & J. P. Tangney (Eds.), *Handbook of Self and Identity* (pp. 401-418). New York, NY: Guilford.
- LeResche, L., Saunders, K., Dublin, S., Thielke, S., Merrill, J. O., Shortreed, S. M., ... & Von Korff, M. R. (2015). Sex and age differences in global pain status among patients using opioids long term for chronic noncancer pain. *Journal of Women's Health*, 24(8), 629-635. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2015.5222
- Leslie, D. L., Ba, D. M., Agbese, E., Xing, X., & Liu, G. (2019). The economic burden of the opioid epidemic on states: the case of Medicaid. *Am J Manag Care*, 25(13 Suppl), S243-S249. <u>https://cjrc.la.psu.edu/wp-content/uploads/sites/21/2020/10/American-Journal-of-Managed-Care.pdf#page=17</u>

- Levis, S. C., Mahler, S. V., & Baram, T. Z. (2021). The developmental origins of opioid use disorder and its comorbidities. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 15, 601905. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2021.601905</u>
- Li, L., & Moore, D. (1998). Acceptance of disability and its correlates. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *138* (1), 13-25.
- Li, K. J., Smedberg, D. L., & DeLisi, L. E. (2019). A Retrospective 4-year Outcome Study of Veterans Admitted to an Acute Inpatient Detoxification Unit for Opioid Use Disorder. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 28(4), 318-323.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12893</u>
- Liebschutz, J. M., Crooks, D., Herman, D., Anderson, B., Tsui, J., Meshesha, L. Z., ... & Stein, M. (2014). Buprenorphine treatment for hospitalized, opioid-dependent patients: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *174*(8), 1369-1376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.2556</u>
- Liepman, M., Gross, K. A., Lagos, M. M., Parran, T.V., & Farkas, K.J. (2014). "Family involvement in addiction, treatment and recovery." In *The ASAM Principles of Addiction Medicine*, 5th ed., eds. New York: Wolters Kluwer, 958–974.

- Lin, W. C., Bharel, M., Zhang, J., O'Connell, E., & Clark, R. E. (2015). Frequent emergency department visits and hospitalizations among homeless people with Medicaid: implications for Medicaid expansion. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105(S5), S716-S722. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.2105/AJPH.2015.302693</u>
- Litz, M., & Leslie, D. (2017). The impact of mental health comorbidities on adherence to buprenorphine: A claims-based analysis. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 26(8), 859-863. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12644.</u>
- Liu, S. J., Mair, C., Songer, T. J., Krans, E. E., Wahed, A., & Talbott, E. (2019). Opioid-related hospitalizations in Pennsylvania: a latent class analysis. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 202, 185-190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.05.009</u>
- Link, B. G., Struening, E. L., Neese-Todd, S., Asmussen, S., & Phelan, J. C. (2001). Stigma as a barrier to recovery: The consequences of stigma for the self-esteem of people with mental illnesses. *Psychiatric services*, 52(12), <u>1621-1626</u>. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.52.12.1621</u>
- Livingston, J. D., & Boyd, J. E. (2010). Correlates and consequences of internalized stigma for people living with mental illness: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, *71*(12), 2150-2161. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.09.030</u>

- Livingston, J. D., Milne, T., Fang, M. L., & Amari, E. (2012). The effectiveness of interventions for reducing stigma related to substance use disorders: a systematic review. *Addiction*, 107(1), 39-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-0443.2011.03601.x</u>
- London, M. D., & Kory, S. (2020). Telemedicine Certified Recovery Specialists for Patients with Opioid Use Disorders in the Emergency Department in COVID-19. <u>https://jdc.jefferson.edu/</u>
- Lucchetti, G., & Lucchetti, A. L. G. (2014). Spirituality, religion, and health: Over the last 15 years of field research (1999–2013). *The International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 48(3), 199-215. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.2190/PM.48.3.e</u>
- Lysaker, P. H., Roe, D., & Yanos, P. T. (2007). Toward under- standing the insight paradox: Internalized stigma moderates the association between insight and social functioning, hope, and self-esteem among people with schizophrenia spectrum disorders. *Schizophrenia Bulletin*, 33, 192-199. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/schbul/sbl016</u>
- Ma, J., & Wang, Z. Y. (2013). The mediating role of social support in college students' emotional intelligence and life satisfaction. *Chin. J. Health Psychol*, 12, 137-13 <u>https://doi.org/10.13342/j.cnki.cjhp.2013.01.026</u>

- MacArthur, J. D., & MacArthur, C. T. (2004). Self-esteem. San Francisco, CA: Research Network on Socioeconomic Status and Health.
- Maclean, J. C., & Saloner, B. (2019). The effect of public insurance expansions on substance use disorder treatment: evidence from the Affordable Care Act. *Journal of Policy Analysis* and Management, 38(2), 366-393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pam.22112</u>
- Magura, S. (2003). The role of work in substance dependency treatment: A preliminary overview. Substance Use & Misuse, 38(11-13), 1865-1876. https://doi.org/10.1081/JA-120024244
- Mann, M., Hosman, C. M., Schaalma, H. P., & De Vries, N. K. (2004). Self-esteem in a broadspectrum approach for mental health promotion. *Health education research*, 19(4), 357-372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/her/cyg041</u>
- Manning, L. K. (2013). Navigating hardships in old age: Exploring the relationship between spirituality and resilience in later life. *Qualitative Health Research*, 23(4), 568-575. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1049732312471730</u>
- Marchand, K., Palis, H., Peng, D., Fikowski, J., Harrison, S., Spittal, P., ... & Oviedo-Joekes, E. (2015). The role of gender in factors associated with addiction treatment satisfaction among long-term opioid users. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 9(5), 391.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0000000000145

- Maroof, D. A. (2012). Binary logistic regression. In *Statistical methods in neuropsychology* (pp. 67-75). Springer, Boston, MA. <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-1-4614-3417-7.pdf?pdf=button</u>
- Marshall, J. R., Gassner, S. F., Anderson, C. L., Cooper, R. J., Lotfipour, S., & Chakravarthy, B. (2018). Socioeconomic and geographical disparities in prescription and illicit opioid-related overdose deaths in Orange County, California, from 2010–2014. *Substance Abuse*. https://doi.org/10.1080/08897077.2018.1442899
- Martin, C. E., Scialli, A., & Terplan, M. (2020). Addiction and depression: Unmet treatment needs among reproductive age women. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 24(5), 660–667. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10995-020-02904-8</u>
- Martinez, S., Jones, J. D., Brandt, L., Hien, D., Campbell, A. N., Batchelder, S., & Comer, S. D. (2021). Factor structure and psychometric properties of the Connor–Davidson resilience scale (CD-RISC) in individuals with opioid use disorder. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 221, 108632. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108632</u>
- Masten, A. S., Best, K. M., & Garmezy, N. (1990). Resilience and development: Contributions from the study of children who overcome adversity. *Development and Psychopathology*, 2(4), 425–444. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0954579400005812</u>

- Mathis, G. M., Ferrari, J. R., Groh, D. R., & Jason, L. A. (2009). Hope and substance abuse recovery: The impact of agency and pathways within an abstinent communal-living setting. *Journal of Groups in Addiction & Recovery*, 4(1-2), 42-50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15560350802712389</u>
- May, E. M., Hunter, B. A., Ferrari, J., Noel, N., & Jason, L. A. (2015). Hope and abstinence selfefficacy: Positive predictors of negative affect in substance abuse recovery. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 51(6), 695-700. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-015-9888-y</u>
- Meinhofer, A., & Witman, A. E. (2018). The role of health insurance on treatment for opioid use disorders: Evidence from the Affordable Care Act Medicaid expansion. *Journal of Health Economics*, 60, 177-197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhealeco.2018.06.004</u>
- Menec, V. H., Newall, N. E., Mackenzie, C. S., Shooshtari, S., & Nowicki, S. (2019). Examining individual and geographic factors associated with social isolation and loneliness using Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA) data. *PLoS One*, *14*(2), https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0211143
- Meschke, L. L., & Patterson, J. M. (2003). Resilience as a theoretical basis for substance abuse prevention. *Journal of Primary Prevention*, 23, 483-514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022276511537</u>

- McCarty, D., Braude, L., Lyman, D. R., Dougherty, R. H., Daniels, A. S., Ghose, S. S., & Delphin-Rittmon, M. E. (2014). Substance abuse intensive outpatient programs: assessing the evidence. *Psychiatric Services*, 65(6), 718-726.
 https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201300249
- McDonnell, E., Hevey, D., McCauley, M., Ducray, K.N., (2018). Exploration of associations between early maladaptive schemas, impaired emotional regulation, coping strategies and resilience in opioid-dependent poly-drug users. *Substance use & misuse*, *53*(14), 2320– 2329. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2018.1473438.
- McGuire, A. P., Mota, N. P., Sippel, L. M., Connolly, K. M., & Lyons, J. A. (2018). Increased resilience is associated with positive treatment outcomes for veterans with comorbid PTSD and substance use disorders. *Journal of Dual Diagnosis*, *14*(3), 181-186. https://doi.org/10.1080/15504263.2018.1464237
- McKay, J. R. (2009). Continuing care research: What we have learned and where we are going. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *36*(2), 131-145.
- McKellar, J. D., Harris, A. H., & Moos, R. H. (2006). Predictors of outcome for patients with substance-use disorders five years after treatment dropout. *Journal of studies on alcohol*, 67(5), 685-693. <u>https://doi.org/10.15288/jsa.2006.67.685</u>
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2008.10.004

- McLaughlin, M. F., Li, R., Carrero, N. D., Bain, P. A., & Chatterjee, A. (2021). Opioid use disorder treatment for people experiencing homelessness: A scoping review. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 224, 108717. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.108717</u>
- McNeil, R., Small, W., Wood, E., & Kerr, T. (2014). Hospitals as a 'risk environment': an ethnoepidemiological study of voluntary and involuntary discharge from hospital against medical advice among people who inject drugs. *Social Science & Medicine*, 105, 59-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.01.010</u>
- Mo, P. K. H., Lau, J. T. F., Yu, X., & Gu, J. (2014). The role of social support on resilience, posttraumatic growth, hopelessness, and depression among children of HIV-infected parents in mainland China. *Aids Care*, 26(12), 1526-1533. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2014.923810</u>
- Moe, J., Johnson, J. L., & Wade, W. (2007). Resilience in children of substance users: In their own words. Substance Use & Misuse, 42(2-3), 381-398. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826080601142147
- Mohammad-Najar, N., Khoshnevis, E., & Banisi, P. (2017). Effectiveness of positive thinking skills training on the hope and quality of life of drug-dependent people. *Addiction & Health*, 9(3), 120. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5894791/pdf/AHJ-09-120.pdf</u>

- Moreno, J. L., Wakeman, S. E., Duprey, M. S., Roberts, R. J., Jacobson, J. S., & Devlin, J. W. (2019). Predictors for 30-day and 90-day hospital readmission among patients with opioid use disorder. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, *13*(4), 306–313. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.000000000000499</u>
- Moschion, J., & Powdthavee, N. (2017). The welfare implications of addictive substances: A longitudinal study of life satisfaction of drug users. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 146, 206–221. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2017.12.016</u>
- Mosher, H., Zhou, Y., Thurman, A. L., Sarrazin, M. V., & Ohl, M. E. (2017). Trends in Hospitalization for Opioid Overdose among Rural Compared to Urban Residents of the United States, 2007-2014. *Journal of Hospital Medicine, 12*(11), 925-929.
 https://doi.org/10.12788/jhm.2793
- Na, P. J., Stefanovics, E. A., Greg Rhee, T., & Rosenheck, R. A. (2022). "Lives of despair "at risk for "deaths of despair": Tracking and under-recognized, vulnerable population. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127 - 022 -02218 -w</u>.
- Naeger, S., Mutter, R., Ali, M. M., Mark, T., & Hughey, L. (2016). Post-discharge treatment engagement among patients with an opioid-use disorder. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 69, 64-71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2016.07.004</u>

Nagarajan, M. K., & Goodman, D. (2020). Not just substance use: the critical gap in nutritional interventions for pregnant women with opioid use disorders. *Public Health*, 180, 114-116 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2019.10.025</u>

National Institute on Drug Abuse. (2022). <u>https://nida.nih.gov/research-topics/trends-</u> <u>statistics/overdose-death-rates</u>

National Institute of Drug Abuse. (2018).

https://nida.nih.gov/publications/drugfacts/comorbidity-substance-use-disorders-othermental-illnesses

National Institute of Drug Abuse. (2021). Part 4: Barriers to Comprehensive Treatment for Individuals with Co-Occurring Disorders.

https://nida.nih.gov/publications/research-reports/common-comorbidities-substance-usedisorders/part-4-barriers-to-comprehensive-treatment-individuals-co-occurring-disorders

National Institute of Health. (2022). When Addiction and Mental Illness Collide.

https://heal.nih.gov/news/stories/collaborative-care

National Institute of Mental Health. (2017). Major Depression.

https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/major depression

- Neighbors, C. J., Choi, S., Healy, S., Yerneni, R., Sun, T., & Shapoval, L. (2019). Age related medication for addiction treatment (MAT) use for opioid use disorder among Medicaid insured patients in New York. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy*, 14(1), 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13011-019-0215-4</u>.
- Neumann, A. M., Blondell, R. D., Azadfard, M., Nathan, G., & Homish, G. G. (2013). Primary care patient characteristics associated with completion of 6-month buprenorphine treatment. *Addictive Behaviors*, 38(11), 2724-2728. https://doi.org/0.1016/j.addbeh.2013.07.007
- Nooripour, R., Farmani, F., Brand, S., Ghanbari, N., Ilanloo, H., Matacotta, J. J., & Sadeghi-Bahmani, D. (2022). Psychometric Characteristics of Persian Version of Adult Hope
 Scale (AHS) in Iranian Females with Multiple Sclerosis (MS). *Journal of Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences*, 26(2). <u>https://dx.doi.org/10.5812/jkums-123276</u>
- Nordeck, C. D., Buresh, M., Krawczyk, N., Fingerhood, M., & Agus, D. (2021). Adapting a Low-threshold Buprenorphine Program for Vulnerable Populations During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Journal of Addiction Medicine*, 15(5), 364–369.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/ADM.0000000000774

- Novak, P., Feder, K. A., Ali, M. M., & Chen, J. (2019). Behavioral health treatment utilization among individuals with co-occurring opioid use disorder and mental illness: Evidence from a national survey. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 98, 47-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2018.12.006
- Nwabueze, C., Elom, H., Liu, S., Walter, S. M., Sha, Z., Acevedo, P., ... & Wang, K. (2022). Gender differences in the associations of multiple psychiatric and chronic conditions with major depressive disorder among patients with opioid use disorder. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, 40(2), 168-178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10550887.2021.1957639</u>
- Ober, A. J., Watkins, K. E., McCullough, C. M., Setodji, C. M., Osilla, K., & Hunter, S. B. (2018). Patient predictors of substance use disorder treatment initiation in primary care. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 90, 64-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2018.04.004
- O'Brien, E. J., Bartoletti, M., & Leitzel, J. D. (2006). Self-esteem, psychopathology and psychotherapy. In M. Kernis (Ed.), *Self-esteem issues and answers: A sourcebook of current perspectives*, 306-315.
- Omidian, H., Babanejad, N., & Omidi, Y. (2022). Opioid epidemic and the urge to discover new treatment options. *Drug Discovery Today*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2022.05.025</u>

- Onal, O., Evcil, F. Y., Dogan, E., Develi, M., Uskun, E., & Kisioglu, A. N. (2022). The effect of loneliness and perceived social support among older adults on their life satisfaction and quality of life during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Educational Gerontology*, 48(7), 331-343. https://doi.org/10.1080/03601277.2022.2040206
- Orhurhu, V., Olusunmade, M., Urits, I., Viswanath, O., Peck, J., Orhurhu, M. S., ... & Jatinder, G. (2019). Trends of opioid use disorder among hospitalized patients with chronic pain. *Pain Practice*, *19*(6), 656-663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/papr.12789</u>
- Paterson, A. D., & Hakim-Larson, J. (2012). Arab youth in Canada: Acculturation, enculturation, social support, and life satisfaction. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling and Development*, 40(4), 206-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1912.2012.00018.x</u>
- Pavot, W., & Diener, E. (2008). The satisfaction with life scale and the emerging construct of life satisfaction. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 3(2), 137-152. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760701756946
- Paykel, E. S. (2022). Basic concepts of depression. *Dialogues in clinical neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2008.10.3/espayke
- Peterson, K. A., Swindle, R. W., Phibbs, C. S., Recine, B., & Moos, R. H. (1994). Determinants of readmission following inpatient substance abuse treatment: A national study of VA programs. *Medical Care*, 32(6), 535-550. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/3765940.pdf</u>

- Pfeifer, P., Nigg-Trawally, N., Bartsch, C., & Reisch, T. (2021). Characteristics of suicides and toxicology in a cohort of individuals with opioid use disorder. *Archives of Suicide Research*, 25(2), 287-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13811118.2020.1746941.</u>
- Plawecki, M. H., White, K., Kosobud, A. E., Grahame, N., Zimmermann, U. S., Crabb, D., & O'Connor, S. (2018). Sex differences in motivation to self-administer alcohol after 2 weeks of abstinence in young-adult heavy drinkers. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 42(10), 1897-1908. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13860</u>
- Prince, J. D. (2019). Correlates of opioid use disorders among people with severe mental illness in the United States. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 54(6), 1024-1034. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2018.1559192
- Priddy, B. M., Carmack, S. A., Thomas, L. C., Vendruscolo, J. C., Koob, G. F., & Vendruscolo,
 L. F. (2017). Sex, strain, and estrous cycle influences on alcohol drinking in
 rats. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 152, 61-67.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2016.08.001

Providers Clinical Support System (2021).

https://pcssnow.org/resource/opioid-addiction-psychiatric-comorbidities/

Providers Clinical Support System (2021).

https://pcssnow.org/education-training/sud-core-curriculum/

- Porcaro, A., Nguyen, R., Salomon-Amend, M., Chaparro, J., & Jason, L. (2021). Developing a latent coping resources factor for recovery from substance use disorder. *Addiction Research & Theory*, 29(3), 239-246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16066359.2020.1807959</u>
- Randall, P. A., Stewart, R. T., & Besheer, J. (2017). Sex differences in alcohol selfadministration and relapse-like behavior in Long-Evans rats. *Pharmacology Biochemistry* and Behavior, 156, 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2017.03.005</u>
- Rappaport, B. I., Kandala, S., Luby, J. L., & Barch, D. M. (2020). Brain reward system dysfunction in adolescence: current, cumulative, and developmental periods of depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 177(8), 754-763. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19030281
- Ratts, M. J. (2009). Social justice counseling: Toward the development of a fifth force among counseling paradigms. *The Journal of Humanistic Counseling, Education and Development*, 48(2), 160-172.

https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1939.2009.tb00076.x

Rathinam, B., & Ezhumalai, S. (2021). Resilience among Abstinent Individuals with Substance Use Disorder. *Indian Journal of Psychiatric Social Work*, 96-102. https://doi.org/10.29120/ijpsw.2021.v12.i2.276

- Reddon, H., & Ivers, J. H. (2022). Increased levels of hope are associated with slower rates of relapse following detoxification among people living with opioid dependence. *Addiction Research & Theory*, 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16066359.2022.2132238</u>
- Reeve, K. L., Shumaker, C. J., Yearwood, E. L., Crowell, N. A., & Riley, J. B. (2013). Perceived stress and social support in undergraduate nursing students' educational experiences. *Nurse Education Today*, 33(4), 419–424. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2012.11.009
- Reif, S., George, P., Braude, L., Dougherty, R. H., Daniels, A. S., Ghose, S. S., & Delphin-Rittmon, M. E. (2014). Residential treatment for individuals with substance use disorders: assessing the evidence. *Psychiatric Services*, 65(3), 301-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.201300242</u>
- Rhee, T. G., & Rosenheck, R. A. (2019). Association of current and past opioid use disorders with health-related quality of life and employment among US adults. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 199, 122-128. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.03.004</u>
- Richards, K. A. R., Levesque-Bristol, C., Templin, T. J., & Graber, K. C. (2016). The impact of resilience on role stressors and burnout in elementary and secondary teachers. *Social Psychology of Education*, *19*, 511-536. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-016-9346-x</u>
- Richter, S. S., Brown, S. A., & Mott, M. A. (1991). The impact of social support and self-esteem on adolescent substance abuse treatment outcome. *Journal of Substance Abuse*, 3(4), 371-385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0899-3289(10)80019-7</u>
- Rigg, K. K., & Monnat, S. M. (2015). Urban vs. rural differences in prescription opioid misuse among adults in the United States: Informing region specific drug policies and interventions. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 26(5), 484-491. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2014.10.001</u>

Rizwan, M., & Ahmad, R. (2015). Self-Esteem Deficits Among Psychiatric Patients. SAGE Open, 5(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2158244015581649</u>

- Rizwan, M., & Ahmad, R. (2010). Self-esteem as a predictor of suicide risk among psychiatric patients. *Journal of Alternative Perspectives in the Social Sciences*, 2(2), 577-592. <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/267790391</u>
- Robertson, A. G., Easter, M. M., Lin, H. J., Frisman, L. K., Swanson, J. W., & Swartz, M. S. (2018). Associations between pharmacotherapy for opioid dependence and clinical and criminal justice outcomes among adults with co-occurring serious mental illness. *Journal* of Substance Abuse Treatment, 86, 17-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2017.12.003

- Rockett, I. R., Caine, E. D., Connery, H. S., D'Onofrio, G., Gunnell, D. J., Miller, T. R., ... & Jia, H. (2018). Discerning suicide in drug intoxication deaths: paucity and primacy of suicide notes and psychiatric history. *PLoS one*, *13*(1), e0190200. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190200.
- Rose-Jacobs, R., Trevino-Talbot, M., Vibbert, M., Lloyd-Travaglini, C., & Cabral, H. J. (2019).
 Pregnant women in treatment for opioid use disorder: Material hardships and psychosocial factors. *Addictive Behaviors*, *98*, 106030.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106030

Rosenberg, M. (1965). Rosenberg self-esteem scale. Journal of Religion and Health.

Rosenblatt, R. A., Andrilla, C. H. A., Catlin, M., & Larson, E. H. (2015). Geographic and specialty distribution of US physicians trained to treat opioid use disorder. *The Annals of Family Medicine*, 13(1), 23-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1735</u>

Rosenfield, S. (1997). Labeling mental illness: The effects of received services and perceived stigma on life satisfaction. *American Sociological Review*, 660-672. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/2657432</u>

- Rudzinski, K., McDonough, P., Gartner, R., Strike, C., (2017). Is there room for resilience? A scoping review and critique of substance use literature and its utilization of the concept of resilience. *Substance Abuse Treatment, Prevention, and Policy*, *12*(1), 1-35. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13011-017-0125-2.
- Ruggeri, M., Leese, M., Thornicroft, G., Bisoffi, G., & Tansella, M. (2000). Definition and prevalence of severe and persistent mental illness. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 177(2), 149-155. <u>https://doi.org/10.1192/bjp.177.2.149</u>
- Sandvik, A. M., Hansen, A. L., Hystad, S. W., Johnsen, B. H., & Bartone, P. T. (2015).
 Psychopathy, anxiety, and resiliency–Psychological hardiness as a mediator of the psychopathy–anxiety relationship in a prison setting. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 72, 30-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2014.08.009</u>
- Sarason, I. G. (Ed.). (2013). Social support: Theory, research, and applications (Vol. 24). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Seery, M. D., Holman, E. A., & Silver, R. C. (2010). Whatever does not kill us: cumulative lifetime adversity, vulnerability, and resilience. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 99(6), 1025. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/a0021344</u>

- Semega, J., Kollar, M., Shrider, E. A., & Creamer, J. (2020). Income and Poverty in the United States: 2019 (No. P60-270). U.S. Census Bureau. <u>https://www.census.gov/libr</u> <u>ary/publications/2020/demo/p60-270.html.</u>
- Schottenfeld, R. S., Pascale, R., & Sokolowski, S. (1992). Matching services to needs:
 Vocational services for substance abusers. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 9(1),
 3-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0740-5472(92)90003-7</u>
- Schranz, A. J., Fleischauer, A., Chu, V. H., Wu, L. T., & Rosen, D. L. (2019). Trends in drug use–associated infective endocarditis and heart valve surgery, 2007 to 2017: a study of statewide discharge data. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *170*(1), 31-40. https://doi.org/10.7326/M18-2124
- Schuckit, M. (2016). Treatment of opioid use disorders. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 375(4), 357–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMra1604339</u>
- Schwalm, F. D., Zandavalli, R. B., de Castro Filho, E. D., & Lucchetti, G. (2022). Is there a relationship between spirituality/religiosity and resilience? A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 27(5), 1218-1232. <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/1359105320984537</u>

- Sharp, A., Jones, A., Sherwood, J., Kutsa, O., Honermann, B., & Millett, G. (2018). Impact of Medicaid expansion on access to opioid analgesic medications and medication-assisted treatment. *American Journal of Public Health*, 108(5), 642-648. https://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/abs/10.2105/AJPH.2018.304338
- Sherba, R. T., Coxe, K. A., Gersper, B. E., & Linley, J. V. (2018). Employment services and substance abuse treatment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 87, 70-78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2018.01.015
- Shi, M., Wang, X., Bian, Y., & Wang, L. (2015). The mediating role of resilience in the relationship between stress and life satisfaction among Chinese medical students: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Medical Education*, 15(1), 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-015-0297-2</u>
- Sigurdsson, S. O., Ring, B. M., O'Reilly, K., & Silverman, K. (2012). Barriers to employment among unemployed drug users: Age predicts severity. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 38(6), 580-587. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/00952990.2011.643976</u>
- Silverstone, P. H., & Salsali, M. (2003). Low self-esteem and psychiatric patients: Part I—The relationship between low self- esteem and psychiatric diagnosis. *Annuals of General Hospital Psychiatry*, 2, 2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-2832-2-2</u>

- Simon, C. B., Tsui, J. I., Merrill, J. O., Adwell, A., Tamru, E., & Klein, J. W. (2017). Linking patients with buprenorphine treatment in primary care: Predictors of engagement. *Drug* and Alcohol Dependence, 181, 58–62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.09.017</u>
- Siru, R., Hulse, G. K., & Tait, R. J. (2009). Assessing motivation to quit smoking in people with mental illness: a review. *Addiction*, 104(5), 719-733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1360-</u> 0443.2009.02545.x
- Smith, B. W., Ortiz, J. A., Wiggins, K. T., Bernard, J. F., & Dalen, J. (2012). Spirituality, resilience, and positive emotions. *The Oxford handbook of psychology and spirituality* (pp. 437–454). Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199729920.013.0028</u>
- Smith, M. W., & Mark, T. L. (2014). Datapoints: Follow-Up Encounters Within 30 Days of a Substance Abuse–Related Inpatient Discharge. *Psychiatric Services*, 65(9), 1080-1080. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ps.20140019</u>
- Song, Z. (2017). Mortality quadrupled among opioid-driven hospitalizations, notably within lower-income and disabled white populations. *Health Affairs*, 36(12), 2054-2061. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2017.0689</u>

- Spector, A. L., Quinn, K. G., Young, S. A., O'Brien, M., deRoon-Cassini, T. A., & Dickson-Gomez, J. (2021). A qualitative examination of substance use disorder treatment-seeking among women with opioid use disorders: the role of syndemics and structural violence. *SSM-Qualitative Research in Health*, *1*, 100014. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmqr.2021.100014
- Stebnicki, M. A., CRC, C., Marini, I., & CRC, C. (Eds.). (2012). *The psychological and social impact of illness and disability*. Springer Publishing Company.
- Steinhausen, S. C. (2005). Eating disorders: Anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa. In C.
 Gillberg, R. Harrington, & H. C. Steinhausen (Eds.), *A clinician's handbook of child and adolescent psychiatry* (pp. 272-303). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Strang, J., Volkow, N. D., Degenhardt, L., Hickman, M., Johnson, K., Koob, G. F., ... & Walsh, S. L. (2020). Opioid use disorder. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers*, 6(1), 1-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0137-5</u>
- Stuart, G. W., & Sundeen, S. J. (1987). *Principles and practice of psychiatric nursing* (3rd ed.).St. Louis, MO: Mosby.
- Stumpf, H., & Parker, W. D. (2000). A hierarchical structural analysis of perfectionism and its relation to other personality characteristics. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 28, 837-852. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00141-5</u>

 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (2018). Results from the 2018 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Rockville, MD: Center for Behavioral Health Statistics & Quality.
 <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/cbhsq-reports/Assistant-Secretary-</u> nsduh2018 presentation.pdf

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (2020). <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/default/files/reports/rpt35325/NSDUHFFRPDFWHTML</u> <u>Files2020/2020NSDUHFFR1PDFW102121.pdf</u>

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (2022). <u>https://www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/medications-counseling-related-</u> conditions/co-occurring-disorders

Su, X., Lau, J. T., Mak, W. W., Chen, L., Choi, K. C., Song, J., Zhang, Y., Zhao, G., Feng, T., Chen, X., Liu, C., Liu, J., Liu, D., & Cheng, J. (2013). Perceived discrimination, social support, and perceived stress among people living with HIV/AIDS in China. *AIDS Care*, 25(2), 239–248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09540121.2012.701713</u>

Sullivan, M. D. (2018). Depression effects on long-term prescription opioid use, abuse, and addiction. *The Clinical Journal of Pain*, 34(9), 878-884. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000000</u> Sun, T., Aroke, H., Kogut, S., Katenka, N., Bratberg, J., & Buchanan, A. (2022). Early buprenorphine-naloxone initiation for opioid use disorder reduces opioid overdose, emergency room visits, and healthcare cost compared to late initiation. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 48(2), 217-225. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00952990.2021.198135</u>

Sun, Y., Bao, Y., Kosten, T., Strang, J., Shi, J., & Lu, L. (2020). Editorial: Challenges to Opioid Use Disorders During COVID-19. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 29(3), 174–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.13031

- Sygit-Kowalkowska, E., Szrajda, J., Weber-Rajek, M., Porażyński, K., & Ziółkowski, M. (2017). Resilience as a predicator of mental health of incarcerated women. *Psychiatria Polska*, 51(3), 549-560. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.12740/PP/OnlineFirst/62617</u>
- Takamura, K., Hebbard, A. M., & Robert, S. (2021). Characterization of inpatient care for patients admitted to a psychiatric hospital with a home opioid prescription. *Mental Health Clinician*, 11(2), 55-58. <u>https://doi.org/10.9740/mhc.2021.03.055</u>
- Teoh Bing Fei, J., Yee, A., & Habil, M. H. B. (2016). Psychiatric comorbidity among patients on methadone maintenance therapy and its influence on quality of life. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 25(1), 49-55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ajad.12317</u>

- Tilstra, A. M., Simon, D. H., & Masters, R. K. (2021). Trends in "depths of despair" among working aged White and Black Americans, 1990 – 2017. *American Journal of Epidemiology*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwab088</u>.
- Theofilou, P. (2013). Quality of life: definition and measurement. *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, 9(1). <u>https://nursesoncall.com/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/quality-of-life.pdf</u>
- Thyer, B. A. (2015). The DSM-5 definition of mental disorder: Critique and alternatives. In *Critical Thinking in Clinical Assessment and Diagnosis* (pp. 45-68). Springer, Cham. <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/978-3-319-17774-8.pdf</u>
- Tobolowsky, F. A., Gonzales, E., Self, J. L., Rao, C. Y., Keating, R., Marx, G. E., ... & Kay, M. (2020). COVID-19 outbreak among three affiliated homeless service sites—King
 County, Washington, 2020. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 69(17), 523-526.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6917e2</u>
- Toseef, M. U., Durfee, J., Podewils, L. J., Blum, J., McEwen, D., Hanratty, R., & Everhart, R. (2023). Total cost of care associated with opioid use disorder treatment. *Preventive Medicine*, 166, 107345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2022.107345</u>

- Trzesniewski, K. H., Donnellan, M. B., & Robins, R. W. (2013). Development of self-esteem. In Self-esteem (pp. 60-79). Psychology Press.
- Unick, G. J., Rosenblum, D., Mars, S., & Ciccarone, D. (2013). Intertwined epidemics: national demographic trends in hospitalizations for heroin-and opioid-related overdoses, 1993–2009. *Plos One*, 8(2), e54496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054496</u>
- Urbanoski, K. A., Rush, B. R., Wild, T. C., Bassani, D. G., & Castel, S. (2007). Use of mental health care services by Canadians with co-occurring substance dependence and mental disorders. *Psychiatric Services*, 58(7), 962–969. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/ps.</u> <u>2007.58.7.962</u>.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2022). https://www.hhs.gov/opioids/about-the-epidemic/index.html
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (2021) *Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQOL)*. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/hrqol/index.htm</u>
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2016). Facing addiction in America: The Surgeon General's report on alcohol, drugs, and health (vol. 6). Washington (DC): US Department of Health and Human Services.

- Van Kleef, G. A., De Dreu, C. K., & Manstead, A. S. (2010). An interpersonal approach to emotion in social decision making: The emotions as social information model. In Advances in experimental social psychology (Vol. 42, pp. 45-96). *Academic Press*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(10)42002-X
- Vekaria, V., Bose, B., Murphy, S. M., Avery, J., Alexopoulos, G., & Pathak, J. (2021). Association of co-occurring opioid or other substance use disorders with increased healthcare utilization in patients with depression. *Translational Psychiatry*, 11(1), 265. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-021-01372-0
- Velasquez, M., Flannery, M., Badolato, R., Vittitow, A., McDonald, R. D., Tofighi, B., ... & Lee, J. D. (2019). Perceptions of extended-release naltrexone, methadone, and buprenorphine treatments following release from jail. *Addiction Science & Clinical Practice*, 14(1), 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13722-019-0166-0
- Velez, C.M., Nicolaidis, C., Korthuis, P.T. et al. "It's been an Experience, a Life Learning Experience": A Qualitative Study of Hospitalized Patients with Substance Use Disorders.
 J Gen Intern Med 32, 296–303 (2017). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-016-3919-4</u>
- Verhaeghe, M., Bracke, P., & Bruynooghe, K. (2008). Stigmatization and self-esteem of persons in recovery from mental illness: the role of peer support. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, 54(3), 206-218.

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/002076400809042

- Vieira, S. P. (2010). Resilience as an internal strength. Kairós-Gerontology Magazine, 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.23925/2176-901X.2010v13iEspecial7p%25</u>
- Vigna-Taglianti, F. D., Burroni, P., Mathis, F., Versino, E., Beccaria, F., Rotelli, M., ... & VEdeTTE Study Group. (2016). Gender differences in heroin addiction and treatment: results from the VEdeTTE cohort. *Substance Use & Misuse*, *51*(3), 295-309.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10826084.2015.1108339</u>
- Volkow, N. D., Jones, E. B., Einstein, E. B., & Wargo, E. M. (2019). Prevention and treatment of opioid misuse and addiction: a review. *JAMA Psychiatry*, 76(2), 208-216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3126</u>
- Wachman, E. M., Hunter, R. G., Shrestha, H., Lapp, H. E., Meyer, J., Alvarez, C. D., & Tronick,
 E. (2020). Maternal hair cortisol levels as a novel predictor of neonatal abstinence
 syndrome severity: A pilot feasibility study. *Developmental Psychobiology*, 62(1), 116122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/dev.21896</u>
- Wallace, K. (2014). Being An Addict's Mom: It's Just a Very, Very Sad Place. CNN, http://www.cnn.com/2014/08/26/living/addiction-parents/index.html.

- Wang, K., DiChiacchio, T., Fang, W., Lander, L., Feinberg, J., Xie, C., ... & Piamjariyakul, U. (2022). Longitudinal study of impact of medication for opioid use disorder on Hamilton Depression Rating Scale. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 297, 148-155.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2021.10.018
- Wang, P., Wang, X., Wu, Y., Xie, X., Wang, X., Zhao, F., ... & Lei, L. (2018). Social networking sites addiction and adolescent depression: A moderated mediation model of rumination and self-esteem. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 127, 162-167. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2018.02.008</u>
- Wang, W., Bian, Q., Zhao, Y., Li, X., Wang, W., Du, J., ... & Zhao, M. (2014). Reliability and validity of the Chinese version of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) in the general population. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 36(5), 539-544. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2014.05.021
- Wang, Z., Lohrmann, D. K., Buu, A., & Lin, H. C. (2021). Resilience as a mediator between adverse childhood experiences and prescription opioid misuse among US adults. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 56(4), 484-492. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826084.2021.1879148

- Weinstein, Z. M., Kim, H. W., Cheng, D. M., Quinn, E., Hui, D., Labelle, C. T., Drainoni, M. L., Bachman, S. S., & Samet, J. H. (2017). Long-term retention in Office Based Opioid
 Treatment with buprenorphine. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 74, 65–70.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsat.2016.12.010
- Weisner, C. (2010). "Cost Studies at Northern California Kaiser Permanente." Presented to County Alcohol and Drug Program Administrators, Sacramento, CA.
- White, W. L., & Daley, D. (2016). Calling attention to opioid-affected families and children. William L. White Blog, 7(1), 2016.
 <u>http://www.williamwhitepapers.com/blog/2016/07/calling-__attention-to-opioid-affected-families-and-children-william-white-__and-dr-dennis-c-daley.html.</u>
- White, W., & Savage, B. (2005). All in the family: Alcohol and other drug problems, recovery, advocacy. *Alcoholism Treatment Quarterly*, 23(4), 3-37. https://doi.org/10.1300/J020v23n04_02
- Wilke, D. J. (2004). Predicting suicide ideation for substance users: The role of self-esteem, abstinence, and attendance at 12-step meetings. *Addiction Research & Theory*, *12*(3), 231-240. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/16066350310001653121</u>

- Wilks, S. E., & Croom, B. (2008). Perceived stress and resilience in Alzheimer's disease caregivers: Testing moderation and mediation models of social support. *Aging & Mental Health, 12*(3), 357–365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607860801933323</u>
- Wilks S. E. & Spivey C.A. (2010). Resilience in undergraduate social work students: social support and adjustment to academic stress. *Social Work Education*, 29(3), 276-288, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02615470902912243</u>
- Williams, A. R., Samples, H., Crystal, S., & Olfson, M. (2020). Acute care, prescription opioid use, and overdose following discontinuation of long-term buprenorphine treatment for opioid use disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 177(2), 117-124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2019.19060612</u>
- Wills, T. A., Yaeger, A. M., & Sandy, J. M. (2003). Buffering effect of religiosity for adolescent substance use. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 17(1), 24. <u>https://psycnet.apa.org/doi/10.1037/0893-164X.17.1.24</u>
- Windle, G., Bennett, K.M. & Noyes, J. A methodological review of resilience measurement scales. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* 9, 8 (2011). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-9-8</u>

- Wingo, A. P., Ressler, K. J., & Bradley, B. (2014). Resilience characteristics mitigate tendency for harmful alcohol and illicit drug use in adults with a history of childhood abuse: A cross-sectional study of 2024 inner-city men and women. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 51, 93-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.01.007.</u>
- Woods, D. D. (2017). Essential characteristics of resilience. In *Resilience engineering* (pp. 21–34): CRC Press.
- World Health Organizations (2022). <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/mental-disorders</u>
- Wu, M., Yang, Y., Zhang, D., Zhao, X., Sun, Y., Xie, H., ... Li, Y. (2017). Association between social support and health-related quality of life among Chinese rural elders in nursing homes: The mediating role of resilience. *Quality of Life Research*, 27(3), 783–792. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-017-1730-2
- Yamamoto, A., Needleman, J., Gelberg, L., Kominski, G., Shoptaw, S., & Tsugawa, Y. (2019). Association between homelessness and opioid overdose and opioid-related hospital admissions/emergency department visits. *Social Science & Medicine*, *242*, 112585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.112585</u>

- Yang, C., Zhou, Y., & Xia, M. (2020). How resilience promotes mental health of patients with DSM-5 substance use disorder? The mediation roles of positive affect, self-esteem, and perceived social support. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 11, 588968. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2020.588968</u>
- Yi, Y., Liang, Y., & Rui, G. (2016). A reverse factual analysis of the association between smoking and memory decline in China. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 15(1), 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-016-0417-6</u>
- Yoo, W., Mayberry, R., Bae, S., Singh, K., Peter He, Q., & Lillard, J. W., Jr (2014). A study of effects of multicollinearity in the multivariable analysis. *International Journal of Applied Science and Technology*, 4(5), 9.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4318006/pdf/nihms653352.pdf

 Young, J. Q., Kline-Simon, A. H., Mordecai, D. J., & Weisner, C. (2015). Prevalence of behavioral health disorders and associated chronic disease burden in a commercially insured health system: Findings of a case–control study. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 37(2), 101-108. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2014.12.005</u>

- Zanis, D. A., Coviello, D., Alterman, A. I., & Appling, S. E. (2001). A community-based trial of vocational problem-solving to increase employment among methadone patients. *Journal* of Substance Abuse Treatment, 21(1), 19-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0740-</u> 5472(01)00177-5
- Zhang, L., Zhang, S., Yang, Y., & Li, C. (2017). Attachment orientations and dispositional gratitude: The mediating roles of perceived social support and self-esteem. *Personality* and Individual Differences, 114, 193–197. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2017.04.006</u>
- Zhu, Y., Mooney, L. J., Yoo, C., Evans, E. A., Kelleghan, A., Saxon, A. J., ... & Hser, Y. I. (2021). Psychiatric comorbidity and treatment outcomes in patients with opioid use disorder: Results from a multisite trial of buprenorphine-naloxone and methadone. *Drug* and Alcohol Dependence, 228, 108996. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2021.10899</u>
- Zullig, K. J., Valois, R. F., Huebner, E. S., Oeltmann, J. E., & Drane, J. W. (2001). Relationship between perceived life satisfaction and adolescents' substance abuse. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 29(4), 279–288. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1054-139X(01)00269-5</u>

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

The author, Tori Denae Livingston was born on July 12, 1996, in Cincinnati, Ohio. She is a graduate of Alabama State University where she earned a Bachelor of Science in Rehabilitation Service with a concentration in Addiction studies in 2018 (Magna Cum Laude) and a Master of Rehabilitation Counseling in 2020 (Summa Cum Laude). She is a licensed professional counselor-associate and a licensed chemical dependency counselor-associate. After graduate school, she instantly returned to the classroom to pursue her doctoral studies. During her doctoral studies, she served as a counselor for the SMART recovery program at the UTRGV counseling center. Additionally, she held a position as a teacher/research assistant, where she instructed classes on rehabilitation studies and collaborated on research endeavors with several professors. To date, she has written and collaborated on two book chapters and one publication. In addition, she currently works as an inpatient therapist at Rock Springs Behavioral Health Hospital in Georgetown, TX. Moreover, she aspires to establish her own non-profit organization that provides assistance and support to destitute individuals who are underserved and struggle with co-occurring disorders. Her research interests include opioid use disorder and co-occurring mental health disorders, psychological factors (self-esteem, resilience, life satisfaction), past overdose hospitalizations, past psychiatric hospitalizations, incarceration, and housing insecurity. Contact information: Livingstontori743@yahoo.com